

Work in progress for public discussion WORLD BANK DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 413

WDP413 March 2000

Management and Resolution of Banking Crises

Lessons from the Republic of Korea and Mexico



Jose De Luna-Martinez

Recent World Bank Discussion Papers

- No. 342 Economic Integration and Trade Liberalization in Southern Africa: Is There a Role for South Africa? Merle Holden
- No. 343 Financing Private Infrastructure in Developing Countries. David Ferreira and Karman Khatami
- No. 344 Transport and the Village: Findings from African Village-Level Travel and Transport Surveys and Related Studies. Ian Barwell
- No. 345 On the Road to EU Accession: Financial Sector Development in Central Europe. Michael S. Borish, Wei Ding, and Michael Noël
- No. 346 Structural Aspects of Manufacturing in Sub-Saharan Africa: Findings from a Seven Country Enterprise Survey. Tyler Biggs and Pradeep Srivastava
- No. 347 Health Reform in Africa: Lessons from Sierra Leone. Bruce Siegel, David Peters, and Sheku Kamara
- No. 348 Did External Barriers Cause the Marginalization of Sub-Saharan Africa in World Trade? Azita Amjadi Ulrich Reincke, and Alexander J. Yeats
- No. 349 Surveillance of Agricultural Price and Trade Policy in Latin America during Major Policy Reforms. Alberto Valdés
- No. 350 Who Benefits from Public Education Spending in Malawi: Results from the Recent Education Reform. Florencia Castro-Leal
- No. 351 From Universal Food Subsidies to a Self-Targeted Program: A Case Study in Tunisian Reform. Laura Tuck and Kathy Lindert
- No. 352 China's Urban Transport Development Strategy: Proceedings of a Symposium in Beijing, November 8–10, 1995. Edited by Stephen Stares and Liu Zhi
- No. 353 Telecommunications Policies for Sub-Saharan Africa. Mohammad A. Mustafa, Bruce Laidlaw, and Mark Brand
- No. 354 Saving across the World: Puzzles and Policies. Klaus Schmidt-Hebbel and Luis Servén
- No. 355 Agriculture and German Reunification. Ulrich E. Koester and Karen M. Brooks
- No. 356 Evaluating Health Projects: Lessons from the Literature. Susan Stout, Alison Evans, Janet Nassim, and Laura Raney, with substantial contributions from Rudolpho Bulatao, Varun Gauri, and Timothy Johnston
- No. 357 Innovations and Risk Taking: The Engine of Reform in Local Government in Latin America and the Caribbean. Tim Campbell
- No. 358 China's Non-Bank Financial Institutions: Trust and Investment Companies. Anjali Kumar, Nicholas Lardy, William Albrecht, Terry Chuppe, Susan Selwyn, Paula Perttunen, and Tao Zhang
- No. 359 The Demand for Oil Products in Developing Countries. Dermot Gately and Shane S. Streifel
- No. 360 Preventing Banking Sector Distress and Crises in Latin America: Proceedings of a Conference held in Washington, D.C., April 15-16, 1996. Edited by Suman K. Bery and Valeriano F. Garcia
- No. 361 China: Power Sector Regulation in a Socialist Market Economy. Edited by Shao Shiwei, Lu Zhengyong, Norreddine Berrah, Bernard Tenenbaum, and Zhao Jianping
- No. 362 The Regulation of Non-Bank Financial Institutions: The United States, the European Union, and Other Countries. Edited by Anjali Kumar with contributions by Terry Chuppe and Paula Perttunen
- No. 363 Fostering Sustainable Development: The Sector Investment Program. Nwanze Okidegbe
- No. 364 Intensified Systems of Farming in the Tropics and Subtropics. J.A. Nicholas Wallis
- No. 365 Innovations in Health Care Financing: Proceedings of a World Bank Conference, March 10–11, 1997. Edited by George J. Schieber
- No. 366 Poverty Reduction and Human Development in the Caribbean: A Cross-Country Study. Judy L. Baker
- No. 367 Easing Barriers to Movement of Plant Varieties for Agricultural Development. Edited by David Gisselquist and Jitendra Srivastava
- No. 368 Sri Lanka's Tea Industry: Succeeding in the Global Market. Ridwan Ali, Yusuf A. Choudhry, and Douglas W. Lister
- No. 369 A Commercial Bank's Microfinance Program: The Case of Hatton National Bank in Sri Lanka. Joselito S. Gallardo, Bikki K. Randhawa, and Orlando J. Sacay
- No. 370 Sri Lanka's Rubber Industry: Succeeding in the Global Market. Ridwan Ali, Yusuf A. Choudhry, and Douglas W. Lister
- No. 371 Land Reform in Ukraine: The First Five Years. Csaba Csaki and Zvi Lerman
- No. 373 A Poverty Profile of Cambodia. Nicholas Prescott and Menno Pradhan
- No. 374 Macroeconomic Reform in China: Laying the Foundation for a Socialist Economy. Jiwei Lou
- No. 375 Design of Social Funds: Participation, Demand Orientation, and Local Organizational Capacity. Deepa Narayan and Katrinka Ebbe
- No. 376 Poverty, Social Services, and Safety Nets in Vietnam. Nicholas Prescott

Management and Resolution of Banking Crises

Lessons from the Republic of Korea and Mexico

Jose De Luna-Martinez

The World Bank Washington, D.C.

Copyright © 2000 The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/THE WORLD BANK 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433, U.S.A.

All rights reserved Manufactured in the United States of America First printing March 2000

Discussion Papers present results of country analysis or research that are circulated to encourage discussion and comment within the development community. The typescript of this paper therefore has not been prepared in accordance with the procedures appropriate to formal printed texts, and the World Bank accepts no responsibility for errors. Some sources cited in this paper may be informal documents that are not readily available.

The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the author(s) and should not be attributed in any manner to the World Bank, to its affiliated organizations, or to members of its Board of Executive Directors or the countries they represent. The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this publication and accepts no responsibility for any consequence of their use. The boundaries, colors, denominations, and other information shown on any map in this volume do not imply on the part of the World Bank Group any judgment on the legal status of any territory or the endorsement or acceptance of such boundaries.

The material in this publication is copyrighted. The World Bank encourages dissemination of its work

and will normally grant permission promptly.

Permission to photocopy items for internal or personal use, for the internal or personal use of specific clients, or for educational classroom use, is granted by the World Bank, provided that the appropriate fee is paid directly to Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, U.S.A., telephone 978-750-8400, fax 978-750-4470. Please contact the Copyright Clearance Center before photocopying items.

For permission to reprint individual articles or chapters, please fax your request with complete information to the Republication Department, Copyright Clearance Center, fax 978-750-4470.

All other queries on rights and licenses should be addressed to the World Bank at the address above or faxed to 202-522-2422.

ISBN: 0-8213-4723-3 ISSN: 0259-210X

Cover art: Money bills from different countries, Power Point, by Microsoft, 1998.

Jose De Luna-Martinez is a financial economist in the Financial Restructuring Operations Unit of the World Bank.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data has been applied for.

Contents

FOREWORD	IV
ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	VI
INTRODUCTION	1
1. CAUSES OF THE BANKING CRISES OF KOREA AND MEXICO	3
SOME SYMPTOMS OF THE BANKING CRISES	4
Lending Booms	
Huge Debt of Domestic Corporations	5
Increasing Short-Term Foreign Liabilities	5
Increasing Non-Performing Loans and Decreasing Capitalization	
UNDERLYING WEAKNESSES OF THE BANKING SECTORS OF KOREA (1997) AND MEXICO (199	
Legal Framework and Prudential Regulation	
Supervision	
Quality of Management	9
Market Discipline	
THE BREAKOUT OF THE CRISIS	11
2. THE MANAGEMENT AND RESOLUTION OF THE BANKING CRISES	11
CONTAINING SYSTEMIC RISKS	13
Deposit Insurance	14
Liquidity Support	
Temporary Recapitalization	14
CRISIS MANAGEMENT UNIT	15
PROMPT RECOGNITION OF LOSSES	16
STRATEGIES AND POLICIES FOR RESOLVING THE CRISES	
Purchases of Non-Performing Loans	
Recapitalization with Public Resources	
Debt Restructuring	
Strengthening of Regulation and Supervision	
Sale of Impaired Assets	28
3. ASSESSING THE MANAGEMENT AND RESOLUTION OF THE MEXICAN ANI	
KOREAN BANKING CRISES	29
ASSESSING THE RESOLUTION OF THE BANKING CRISES IN TERMS OF SPEED OF REFORMS AND	
REMAINING AGENDA	
Assessing the Quality of Management of the Mexican and Korean Banking Crise	
Transparency of Decision-making	
CONCLUSIONS	35
BIBLIOGRAPHY	40
NOTES	13

FOREWORD

The resolution of a systemic banking crisis is not an event, but a long and complex process. It requires rapid policy responses to limit systemic risks, willingness to close or restructure nonviable intermediaries, adequate mechanisms for debt restructuring, rapid disposition of nonperforming assets, and comprehensive strategies to restore the long term solvency and profitability of a banking system. Furthermore, the resolution of a crisis usually requires major changes in the financial as well business practices of a country. In fact, in order to eliminate the structural causes of a banking crisis, major efforts may be needed to redefine the government's role in the economy, improve disclosure and corporate governance at firms and financial intermediaries, lift limits on foreign ownership of financial institutions, strengthen competition rules and market discipline, improve a country's judicial practices, and strengthen law enforcement.

The management and resolution of a banking crisis constitute a major challenge for any government. Strong economic and political interests may impede required reforms. Lack of institutional capacity may affect the ability of a government to rapidly recognize losses and choose the adequate policies to resolve a crisis. Moreover, inappropriate sequencing of policies or delay to implement them may produce poor results. Given the large magnitude of banking crises, the manner in which a crisis is managed and resolved can have serious implications in terms of fiscal costs, income distribution, and pace of macroeconomic recovery.

This paper analyzes the strategies and policies implemented in the Republic of Korea and Mexico to resolve their banking crises. It also compares the social, political and institutional constraints faced by decision makers in each country. Based on the experiences of Korea and Mexico, the paper stimulates the discussion on what to do (or not do) to rapidly and successfully resolve a systemic crisis. It also draws and discusses 10 useful lessons for policy makers around the world responsible for managing and resolving a banking crisis.

Jonathan L. Fiechter
Director
Financial Restructuring Operations Unit
The World Bank

ABSTRACT

This paper analyzes and compares the strategies and policies implemented in Korea and Mexico to manage and resolve their banking crises. It identifies eight stages for resolving a banking crisis and examines the responses of Korea and Mexico in each of them: (i) containing systemic risks, (ii) establishment of an overall crisis resolution unit, (iii) recognition of losses, (iv) reduction of bad assets, (v) recapitalization of banks, (vi) restructuring of corporate/household debt, (vii) strengthening of prudential regulation and supervision, and (viii) management and disposition of impaired assets. In addition, the paper compares the management of both crises in terms of transparency of decision making, speed and sequencing of reforms, and social and political obstacles faced for crisis resolution. The paper stresses four points: Firstly, there is no single approach for managing systemic banking crises. What works in one country does not necessarily work in others. Secondly, to a large extent, the resolution of a banking crisis is a managerial problem. The resolution of a crisis will depend on the ability of a government to deliver rapid and sequenced responses, remove legal and administrative obstacles, create consensus around a strategy, implement unpopular measures, coordinate involved agencies, and resist opposition from affected interest groups. Thirdly, a key factor for resolving a crisis is the realistic recognition of banks' losses at the early stages of a crisis. Unrealistic recognition of problems will likely lead to the prescription of insufficient or ineffective measures, which may provide some relief in the short-term, but fail to address the underlying causes of a crisis. Finally, an overall strategy that links all policies and programs towards the accomplishment of a coherent set of goals is crucial for the successful resolution of a banking crisis. Failure to implement policies in a coherent and sequenced basis may produce poor or even contradictory results.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank the following persons for their valuable comments and suggestions: Sri-Ram Aiyer, Laura Ard, Tomas Balino, Jonathan L. Fiechter, Per Jedefors, Robert Liu, Tom Rose, David Scott and Alain Soulard. The author would also like to thank Mike Lubrano for sharing his extensive materials on the Mexican banking crisis.

INTRODUCTION

During the last five years, the number of studies on banking crises has rapidly increased. Most of these new studies have focused on analyzing the origins of banking crises and developing models to predict and prevent them. However, little attention has been paid up to now to the question of how to manage and effectively resolve a banking crisis.

What can be done to rapidly and effectively contain systemic risks, restore the solvency and profitability of financial institutions, minimize the impact of financial sector distress on the economy and limit the fiscal costs of a crisis? What set of policies contribute to a rapid and successful resolution of a banking crisis and under what conditions? Can a model of bank restructuring that proved to be successful in one country be easily implemented in others?

Certainly, the management and resolution of a banking crisis is not an event, but a long and complicated process. Given the large magnitude of most crises, their rapid and successful resolution depends upon a wide range of financial, economic, managerial, political and social factors. The rapid resolution of a crisis can be determined by the prompt identification and resolution of insolvent banks, the amount of resources committed by the government and/or private investors to recapitalize viable financial institutions, the rapid disposition of non-performing assets, and the speed of macroeconomic recovery of a country, especially if debtors' capability to repay their loans needs to be restored. Furthermore, the success to resolve a crisis will also depend on the institutional capacity of the government to manage it, the sequence and timing of reforms, the willingness to reform and implement painful and unpopular measures, and the social and political constraints faced by decision makers.

This paper analyzes and compares the causes of the banking crises in Korea and Mexico, as well as the policies and tools utilized for managing and resolving them. The banking crises of Korea and Mexico pose important similarities. Both crises were triggered by sudden currency devaluations. Also both crises simultaneously unfolded with a major downturn of their economies, followed by a process of rapid macroeconomic recovery. In addition, in both countries neither the emergence nor the magnitude of the crises were predicted by anyone. In fact, just some months before the beginning of the crises, both countries were coincidentally admitted as members of the OECD reflecting the overall optimism of the markets and international community on the sound economic fundamentals of Korea and Mexico.

However, what makes Korean and Mexican banking crises two interesting cases are not only their similarities, but also their differences in crisis management and resolution. There are at least four major differences in the resolution of both banking crises.

Firstly, Mexico has relied on a market-based approach to recapitalize the banking system. The government has established incentives to encourage banks' shareholders to recapitalize their institutions and/or to attract new capital from new domestic and foreign investors. In Korea, on the contrary, the main instrument for bank recapitalization has been the injection of government resources. Under this scheme, major Korean banks have been practically nationalized, and the government has become the owner of more than 75% of the banking system's equity capital.

Another major difference lies on the use and recipients of government financial support. In Mexico, both banking institutions and debtors have benefited from direct fiscal support. Public money has been used to acquire non-performing loans (NPLs) from banking institutions as well as to assume a large part of the costs of the programs for restructuring domestic debt of both households and enterprises, through interest rate reductions, extension of loan maturities and debt forgiveness. In Korea, the use of public resources has been exclusively limited to inject capital into banks and buy NPLs from ailing financial institutions.

A third major difference lies on the speed of reforms. In many of the steps required for crisis resolution such as resolution of distressed banks, purchases of NPLs, adoption of international standards on prudential regulation, deposit insurance reform, and sale of impaired assets, Korea has undoubtedly made progress more rapidly than Mexico.

Finally, the other major difference lies in the social and political constraints faced by decision makers. In Korea, opposition to the bank restructuring program has been relatively weak. Other than labor union opposition to drastic staff cuts, the government has been able to implement its bank restructuring plan without major social or political constraints. In Mexico, on the contrary, resistance to the government's plan for bank restructuring has been steady and widespread among the Mexican population. Indeed, banks' borrowers have been able to organize themselves to force the government to reallocate part of the fiscal resources to support debt restructuring. Also, debtors have been able to impede necessary reforms in the bankruptcy law which would have made easier for banks to collect loans and for the government to rapidly sell the acquired impaired assets. Furthermore, large parts of the Mexican society have opposed to convert the fiscal resources already used by the government to acquire non-performing loans from impaired institutions into public debt.

This paper will identify and explain the main differences in crisis management and resolution used in both countries. A simple scheme of banking resolution process is used to compare the approaches and tools implemented in each case. The scheme identifies eight stages for resolving a banking crisis:

- containing systemic risks
- establishment of an overall crisis resolution unit
- recognition of losses
- reduction of bad assets (purchase of NPLs)
- recapitalization of banks
- corporate/household debt restructuring;
- strengthening of prudential regulation and supervision
- management and disposition of impaired assets

Progress of Korea and Mexico in each of these stages of banking crisis resolution will be analyzed and compared. In addition, the management of both banking crises will be assessed in terms of transparency of decision making, speed and sequencing of reforms, and social and political obstacles faced for banking crisis resolution.

The paper is organized in three parts. Part 1 will briefly compare the causes of the banking crises in both countries. The second part will analyze and compare the approach and main policies implemented in Korea and Mexico to manage and resolve their crises. The last part will discuss the main findings and will draw some lessons from both cases.

1. CAUSES OF THE BANKING CRISES OF KOREA AND MEXICO

It would have been quite difficult to predict the magnitude, or even the breakout, of the banking crises that started in Korea and Mexico in November, 1997 and December 1994, respectively. During the months before the crises, both banking systems seemed to be sound, reporting capital adequacy ratios above the minimum 8% (see Table 2). Furthermore, both countries were growing at positive annual rates, and reports from international investment banks and rating agencies expressed an optimistic view on the health of both banking sectors.¹

In addition, both governments had just completed the implementation of a comprehensive program to reform their financial sectors. Those programs aimed at increasing the efficiency of the banking sector by reducing government interference, deregulating financial markets, easing the restrictions to foreign banks, liberalizing their capital accounts and also, in the case of Mexico, privatizing all commercial banks.

Table 1 illustrates the main elements of the programs of financial sector reform implemented in Mexico and Korea during the years before the crises.

Table 1
Financial Sector Reform in the Republic of Korea and Mexico

	Before Reforms		After F	Reforms
	Mexico (1988)	Korea (1992)	Mexico (1994)	Korea (1997)
Ownership of commercial banks	Government	Private sector	Private sector	Private sector
Decisions on the appointment and removal of bank managers	Government	Government	Banks	Banks
Credit ceilings on commercial	Yes	Yes	No	Almost not
banks (central bank controls on				
domestic credit)				
Foreign ownership of commercial	Prohibited	Partially	Partially	Partially
banks		allowed	allowed	allowed
Determination of lending and	Government	Government	Market	Market (in
deposits rates				almost all cases)
Borrowing in foreign currency by	Highly	Highly	Allowed	Allowed
commercial banks	Restricted	Restricted		ļ
"Policy" loans (government	Yes	Yes	No	Significantly
interference in lending decisions)				reduced
Main recipients of bank loans	Public sector	Private sector	Private sector	Private sector

Source: Aspe (1994), Balino (1999) and Cho (1999)

As shown in the above table, Mexico and Korea achieved rapid and remarkable results to modernize their banking systems during the 90's. In Mexico, all commercial banks were privatized and restrictions on foreign ownership of financial institutions were reduced from 100% in 1989 to 70% in 1993. In addition, in both countries all forms of direct and indirect government intervention in the banking system were significantly reduced. Lending and deposit

rates were no longer determined by the government, but by market forces. Also, government interference in banks' lending decisions was significantly reduced in the case of Korea and completely eliminated in the case of Mexico.

Some Symptoms of the Banking Crises

However, as shown in the following table, once the reforms in the Korean and Mexican financial systems were concluded, some typical symptoms of a banking crisis started to arise: lending booms, deterioration of banks' lending portfolios, decreasing levels of capitalization, insufficient loan loss provisions, increasing short-term foreign liabilities and, in the case of Korea, huge leverage of the corporate sector.

Table 2
Selected Indicators of the Banking Systems in Korea and Mexico

Indicators	Mexico (1992)	Mexico (1993)	Mexico (1994)	Korea (1995)	Korea (1996)	Korea (1997)
Number of domestic institutions	18	20	24	26	26	26
Total assets in US dollars	144.3 billion	178.9 billion	236.6 billion	552 billion	658.2 billion	712.9 billion
Total assets as % of GDP	40	44.3	56	157	170	169
Assets of banks as % of total assets of the financial system	78	81	79	52	49	51
Total loan portfolio in US dollars	97.6 billion	122.9 billion	155.2 billion	311 billion	389 billion	385 billion
Growth of the lending portfolio over the previous years	18%	25.9%	26.2%	19%	25%	-1.1%
Non-performing loans as % of total loan portfolio	5.2	6.9	9.0	5.2	3.9	5.8
Provisions for loan losses as % of total loans	2.6	3.1	3.8	1.4	1.4.	1.9
Capital adequacy ratio	9.03	10.11	8.0	9.3	9.1	7.0
Return on assets (ROA)	1.53%	1.61%	0.58%	0.32%	0.26%	0.93%
Return on equity (ROE)	42.2%	40.12%	13.2%	4.19%	3.8%	-18%

Note: Assets of commercial banks in Korea include both banking accounts and trust accounts.

Source: CNBV, FSS, BOK and BANXICO

Lending Booms

As shown in the above table, banks in Korea and Mexico reacted to the deregulation and liberalization of their financial sectors by rapidly increasing their lending portfolios. In Mexico, during the three year period 1991-1994, aggregate gross loans increased by 89.2% in real terms, equivalent to an annual real growth rate of 23.7%. This is equivalent to at least eight times the rate of growth of real GDP during the same period.

In Korea, bank credit grew rapidly too. From the end of 1994 to December 1996, it increased by 34%. Surprisingly, bank credit did not grow during the year of the crisis. This is due to the fact that in 1997 the government issued stricter limits on connected lending and credit risk exposure that prevented banks from increasing their loans to the domestic big corporations (chaebols) whose leverage already exceeded any reasonable ratio. However, the lack of new bank credit did not prevent chaebols from increasing their leverage; in fact chaebols started to increase their financing from the so called non-bank financial institutions (NBFIs) including merchant banks, development banks, insurance companies, investment trust companies, credit unions, which together are bigger than commercial banks in terms of assets (see Table 2). Moreover, the impact

of the new ceiling on credit exposure was limited because banks continued to be exposed to the chaebols through other channels. In 1997, for instance, 90% of the bonds issued by the chaebols were guaranteed by the domestic commercial banks.

Huge Debt of Domestic Corporations

In Korea, reforms to reduce all forms of government interference in lending decisions did not alter the traditional role played by the banking sector in financing the aggressive expansion plans of chaebols. The aggressive, leveraged expansion of chaebols worked well as long as the economy and exports expanded vigorously and the returns on new investment exceeded the cost of capital. However, in the years before the crisis, chaebols' main financial performance indicators such as free cash flow, return on equity, profit margin, debt coverage ratio rapidly deteriorated while their debt/equity ratios continued to rise beyond reasonable limits (see Claessens, 1998). At the end of 1997, for the big 5 chaebols, whose debt account for 50 per cent of total corporate debt, their debt was on average more than five times their equity. The level of corporate debt in Korea was estimated \$500 billion in 1997, or more than 150 percent of GDP. About 50% of it was financed by domestic commercial banks, making them extremely vulnerable to the chaebols.

In comparison to Korea, Mexican large conglomerates were much less leveraged. The debt to equity ratio of the largest 500 conglomerates was less than 83% (Gavito, p. 11). In addition, total loan portfolio of Mexican commercial banks represented only 56% of GDP at the end of 1994, while in Korea it represented 156% of GDP at the end of 1997.

Increasing Short-Term Foreign Liabilities

To a large extent, the rapid increase of banks' loan portfolio in Korea and Mexico was made possible by the increasing availability of foreign funds, resulting from their capital account liberalization carried out in the years before the crises. Both Korea and Mexico met the increasing demand for finance by using foreign borrowing, often at short term maturities. However, given the weak prudential regulation and lack of risk management capacity within the banks, large maturity mismatches in banks' balance sheets appeared. At the end of December, 1997 short term assets of Korean commercial banks covered only 55 percent of short term liabilities (Baliño, 1999). A similar problem occurred in Mexico where short term assets of banks covered only 65% of short-term liabilities at the end of 1994.

Increasing Non-Performing Loans and Decreasing Capitalization

In the case of Mexico, the rapid growth of loans was accompanied by a rapid deterioration of banks' lending portfolio. NPLs increased from 4.2% in 1992 to 9% at the end of 1994. Figures for Korea, surprisingly, do not show an increase on NPLs. They practically remained unchanged during the years before the crisis. In fact, they declined from 5.2% in 1995 to 3.9% in 1996 and then went up again to reach 5.8% at the end of 1997.

During the same period, banks in both countries show a decreasing level in the capitalization. As shown in table 2, the average BIS capital ratio of Mexican commercial banks decreased from

9.03% in 1992 to 8.0 at the end of 1994, while in the case of Korean banks it decreased from 9.3% in 1995 to 7.1% at the end of 1997. Also, as shown in table 2, the profitability indicators such as return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE) in both countries rapidly deteriorated during the same period.

Certainly, all the above figures showed some worrisome signs in both banking systems and a progressive deterioration of banks' soundness. However, it would have been quite difficult to predict through these indicators alone the magnitude of the banking crises that started in Mexico and Korea in December, 1994 and December, 1997. What caused then the deep banking crises of Korea and Mexico? The argument of the rest of this section is as follows: in spite of major efforts of both countries to establish a market-based financial system, serious deficiencies in the overall framework of credit allocation still persisted. The intended transitions from a government owned and managed banking system to a market-based banking system were still incomplete and, as a result, the rebirth of Korean and Mexican banks as efficient and competitive institutions had not occurred yet.

Thus, the roots of both banking crises should be found in the inefficient framework for credit allocation and the poor incentives for prudent management of banks existing in Korea and Mexico. These deficiencies were mainly reflected in the poor legal framework, lax prudential regulation and supervision, lack of reliable information on the soundness of the banking system, lack of risk management capacity and inefficient management of banks, persistent government interference in lending decisions, and weak market discipline. Eventually all these deficiencies, aggravated by a deteriorating macroeconomic scenario, became the main roots of the deep banking crisis that started in Mexico and Korea in December, 1994 and November, 1997.

Underlying Weaknesses of the Banking Sectors of Korea (1997) and Mexico (1994)

Table 3 scores and compares the main weaknesses of the Korean and Mexican banking systems existing before the crises.

Legal Framework and Prudential Regulation

As shown in table 3, serious weaknesses existed in the regulatory framework of the banking sectors of Korea and Mexico, particularly in the bankruptcy laws, capital requirements, accounting standards, loan classification and provisioning rules, large exposures and connected lending limits.

Weak bankruptcy laws. In both countries, creditors' rights were not adequately protected nor effectively enforced. As a result, the collection of loans from defaulted debtors was a lengthy process. In Mexico, for example, the recovery of a loan through the legal process could (and still can) take between three and seven years, since defaulted debtors can delay the foreclosure process by presenting objections to the resolution process. Bankruptcy court judges are obligated to pass resolutions on each objection presented by debtors. Moreover, there are only few judges in Mexico to hear bankruptcy proceedings, making the enforcement of creditors' rights a long and expensive process.

Table 3 Banking Sector Weaknesses Before the Crises Selected Indicators

Adequate legal framework and prudential regulation 1. Rapid collection of guarantees and recovery of loans when debtors are no longer able to repay 2. Capital requirement in accordance with the Basle Capital Accord 3. Accounting practices in compliance with internationally accepted standards 4. Loan classification system designed to measure borrowers' present and future capability to repay 5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international standards 6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 1 2 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 1 2 10. Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0	Minimum Institutional Pre-conditions for an Efficient	Mexico	Korea
1. Rapid collection of guarantees and recovery of loans when debtors are no longer able to repay 2. Capital requirement in accordance with the Basle Capital Accord 3. Accounting practices in compliance with internationally accepted 4. Loan classification system designed to measure borrowers' present and future capability to repay 5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international standards 6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 1 2 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 3 0 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial of institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 3 22. Limited deposit insurance Total	Banking System	(1994)	(1997)
Capital requirement in accordance with the Basle Capital Accord 1 1 1 3 3 Accounting practices in compliance with internationally accepted 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			
3. Accounting practices in compliance with internationally accepted 4. Loan classification system designed to measure borrowers' present and future capability to repay 5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international standards 6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 1 2 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial on institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance Total Total		0	1
standards 4. Loan classification system designed to measure borrowers' present and future capability to repay 5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international 1	2. Capital requirement in accordance with the Basle Capital Accord	1	1
future capability to repay 5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international 5. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 11. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 1 2 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 3 0 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks Tomal integrity of owners and management 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial of institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 3 20 18		1	1
standards 6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 1 2 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 3		1	1
and liquidity) 7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 11. 1 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 3 0 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 18	5. Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international	1	1
7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with international standards Effective supervision of the banking industry 8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign exchange	1	1
8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision 9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 10 18	7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in compliance with	2	1
9. Independent supervisory authority 10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 11. 11 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial oinstitutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 3	Effective supervision of the banking industry		
10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management	8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision	3	1
also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management		1	0
site supervision) 11. Consolidated supervision 12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management	10. Supervision focused not only in assessing compliance with the law, but	0	0
12. Adequate manuals for on site examination 13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Parallel Management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 10. Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 11. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 18. Constitutions 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial practices 10. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 11. Constitutions 12. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 13. Constitutions 14. Constitutions 15. Bank management of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires exit assessment of technical skills and 18. Constitutions 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial 10. On the process of the pro	also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking institutions (off		
13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors 14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Cualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance Total	11. Consolidated supervision	0	0
14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of sanctions including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management	12. Adequate manuals for on site examination	0	1
including change of management and suspension of activities Qualified management 15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial on institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance Total	13. Regular training programs for bank supervisors	1	1
Qualified management15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry1216. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management1117. Management of banks free from political interference3018. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks11Strong market discipline19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements0020. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices1121. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions0022. Limited deposit insurance03Total2018		1	0
15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking industry 16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 1			
16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and moral integrity of owners and management 17. Management of banks free from political interference 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1	L	1	2
17. Management of banks free from political interference 3 0 18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks 1 1 Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 0 0 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 Total 20 18	16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical skills and	1	
18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within banks Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial of institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices of the promote of		3	0
Strong market discipline 19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance Total 20 18			1
19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial 0 institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements 20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 Total 20 18			
20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial practices 1 1 21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions 0 0 22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 Total 20 18	19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial	0	0
21. Rapid exit mechanisms for non-viable financial institutions0022. Limited deposit insurance03Total2018		1	1
22. Limited deposit insurance 0 3 Total 20 18	L	0	0
Total 20 18		0	3
	Total	20	18

0=no compliance, 1= poor compliance, 2=satisfactory compliance, 3=full compliance Source: Bank staff estimates

In Korea, the framework to protect and enforce creditors' rights was also deficient. Debtor and creditors relations were intimately influenced by the government, which sought to maintain market stability and industrial growth by inhibiting contentious debt collection and by actively promoting voluntary schemes of rescheduling. Moreover, proceedings used to be cumbersome

and slow and, in the case of large corporations, public policy interest often prevailed over rational economic decisions.

Capital requirements. Another major weakness of the regulatory framework of Korea and Mexico lies on the capital requirements. Although commercial banks in both countries are required to comply with the minimum 8% capital ratio recommended by the Basle Capital Accord, the quality and quantity of capital is overstated because the capital is calculated using different procedures as those recommended in the Capital Accord.

In Korea, for instance, trust accounts of commercial banks were not subject to capital requirements, although they represented 40% of banks' total assets. In Mexico, banks have been allowed to include deferred income taxes, inflation revaluations and subordinated debt in the Tier 1 capital, thus overstating the quality of capital. In addition, when Mexican banks were privatized in 1991 and 1992, the banking authorities failed to proof the sources of capital used to acquire the banks. Recent investigations have found that some banks' owners had borrowed capital from other domestic financial institutions to buy the banks (see M. Mackey, 1999), thus bringing debt instead of capital into their institutions.

In addition, it could be said that the 8% capital requirement of both countries is insufficient because most of the banks lack adequate risk management tools and procedures (particularly regarding the credit risk), sound accounting and valuation methods were not in place, the legal systems were weak and corporate governance was poor.

Accounting standards. Since in Korea and Mexico financial information disclosed by banks was not prepared in accordance with international standards, it was difficult for the authority as well as market participants to assess the soundness of banks and identify the magnitude of their credit and market risks. In both countries, the subsidiary, affiliate, and off-shore operations of banks were not reported on a consolidated basis, making it difficult to have a complete overview of the banks' operations. Furthermore, in both countries profits were overstated because banks were allowed to accrue interest on past due loans. In the case of Mexico, banks were also allowed to create loan loss provisions through a charge on capital reserves without passing through the income statement. Moreover, in both countries securities held by banks were not marked to market.

Loan classification and provisioning. Another factor that contributed to underestimating the extent of banks' current and potential losses were the lax loan classification and loan loss provisioning guidelines existing in Korea and Mexico. In both countries, loan classification was mainly based on borrowers' repayment history rather than current or near term capacity to repay. In addition, prudential rules allowed banks to roll over and reschedule trouble loans which remained classified as performing loans.³

Large exposures and connected lending. Of both countries, only Mexico had adequate limits to avoid excessive credit exposures of banks to a single borrower or related group of borrowers. The following table compares the limits to credit exposures in Korea and Mexico with international standards.

Table 4
Credit Exposures Limits in Mexico and Korea

	International standards*	Korea (1997)	Mexico (1994)
Credit ceiling to a business group as a % of a bank's equity capital	25	45	30
Credit ceiling to a single person as a % of a bank's equity capital	25	15 for loans 30 for guarantees	10

*As defined by the Basle Committee on Banking Supervision Source: FSS and CNBV

As mentioned above, the Korean limits on connected lending and large credit exposures were issued in August, 1997 in order to reduce the already huge expose of banks to their main borrowers, the chaebols. However, given the existing huge exposure of banks to chaebols, the rapid enforcement of these limits was not possible.

Supervision

A major weakness of both banking systems was the poor quality of supervision of financial institutions. In both countries, the supervisory function was primarily oriented to assure compliance with existing laws and regulations, rather than to identify and prevent excessive risk taking at single institutions as well as at the banking system as a whole. Off-site supervision did practically not exist neither in Korea nor in Mexico. Also, since banks were not required to report consolidated financial statements, supervision of parent companies and subsidiaries could not be done on a consolidated basis.

It should be acknowledged that in the months before the crises, important efforts were taking place both in Korea and Mexico to improve their reporting systems and regulations on liquidity and foreign exchange risks. Also, both countries had started to adopt the US CAMEL system. Notwithstanding these efforts, the banking supervisory agencies in both countries still lacked of the infrastructure and tools for promptly identifying and limiting the excessive credit and market risks that financial institutions were taking.

The quality of banking supervision in Korea and Mexico was also affected by the lack of autonomy of supervisory agencies. Neither the National Banking Commission of Mexico (CNB) nor the Office for Bank Supervision of Korea were independent entities. The lack of autonomy of the supervisory agencies made the supervisory function less rigorous, particularly if it contrasted with the prevailing political environment or, in the case of Korea, it opposed to the Ministry of Finance's (MOFE) policy direction.

Quality of Management

Although in Korea and Mexico commercial banks were owned and managed by the private sector, banks in both countries lacked qualified management. In Korea, banks as well as all other financial intermediaries had been used, since the 1960's, as an important means to achieve government's economic objectives. Domestic financial intermediaries were expected to mobilize

household savings in order to finance both investment in "strategic" economic sectors as well as the expansion of export-oriented firms under preferential conditions. The government used to interfere in banks' lending decisions by appointing and removing senior management, establishing credit controls and controlling interest rates. Although, as shown above, government interference in banks' lending decisions was considerably reduced during the 1990's, bank managers developed few skills for independent, efficient and prudent management. Several legacies from the past government intervention model remained. The governance structure of commercial banks, for example, remained unchanged, and informal controls on the determination of interest rates continued to exist. In addition, lending decisions were still largely based on the availability of collateral rather than on a proper assessment of risk or future repayment capacity.

In comparison to Korea, in Mexico bank management was free from political interference. Once Mexican banks were privatized, the appointment and removal of managers were decided by the banks themselves. Also, managers were completely free to make lending decisions. However, since commercial banks had been owned and managed by the government from 1982 to 1991, most of the new owners and managers of banks did not have sufficient experience in the banking business. Although most of them came from existing domestic brokerage houses, they lacked of experience in the traditional lending business and, especially, in the prudent and effective management of credit risks and other risks associated with banking.

Another factor that affected the efficient management of Mexican banks was the fact that the government failed to prevent individuals with dubious moral reputation from acquiring banking institutions. Indeed, three years after the privatization process was completed, the financial authority had already removed management of 4 of the 18 privatized banks due to extensive fraudulent activities. When authorities started to deeply examine banks, they found extensive evidence of fraudulent management in several other banks.

Market Discipline

In both countries, market discipline was hampered by the reluctance of financial authorities to let unviable banks fail, the lack of prompt corrective measures to be imposed on banks facing capital shortfalls, the unwillingness of banking authorities to impose strong sanctions on banks for illicit practices and, in the case of Mexico, by a deposit insurance that practically guaranteed all banks' liabilities with the exception of subordinated debt.

Neither in Mexico or in Korea banks had ever been closed. In fact, exit mechanisms for ailing banks did not exist. In Mexico, for instance, authorities were legally unable to rapidly wind-up insolvent banks. As in many other countries, they require the prior consent of courts to force the bankruptcy of a banking institution. However, given the outdated bankruptcy law, the approval is lengthy in Mexico and impedes the regulatory authority from rapidly conducting bankruptcy proceedings. Moreover, historically neither Mexico nor Korea had registered cases where banks or bank managers have been severely punished for fraudulent or illicit behavior.

The Breakout of the Crisis

Given the inadequate framework for credit allocation and the lack of incentives for prudent management of banks described above, it is not a surprise that the soundness of the banking systems of Korea and Mexico started to deteriorate after the liberalization and deregulation of both banking systems took place.

The deterioration of banks' soundness was exacerbated by the adverse macroeconomic scenario that Mexico and Korea faced during 1994 and 1997, respectively. In both cases, the appreciation of their domestic currencies led to an unsustainable current account deficit which was financed by short-term capital inflows. In addition, both countries started to face large capital outflows resulting from the deteriorating investors' confidence on their macroeconomic fundamentals. Investors confidence decreased further as a result of the domestic political shocks, in the case of Mexico, and the default of domestic corporations and regional distress in the East Asia region, in the case of Korea.⁵

Thus, the apparent stability of the banking systems came to an end when the Korean and Mexican governments suddenly announced the devaluation of their domestic currencies in November, 1997 and December, 1994, respectively.

In both cases, the currency devaluation provoked significant foreign exchange losses for banks and enterprises. In the first three months of the crisis, the Mexican peso and the Korean won devalued by 120% and 110%, respectively. Also, the sharp increase in interest rates along with the rapid drop of economic output that followed to the devaluation prevented many debtors from servicing their debts, provoking a rapid deterioration of the loan portfolio of banks. In the first three months after the devaluations, inter-bank rates increased from 13.8% to 23.1% in Korea, while in Mexico they went up from 20% to 118% in the same period. Moreover, the financial instability of domestic markets along with the loss in confidence triggered by the devaluations made it difficult for banks to roll-over their short term foreign currency liabilities, hence provoking a liquidity crisis.

The impact of the currency devaluations on the banking systems was devastating. However, the banking crises can not be exclusively attributed to the currency devaluations, not even to the economic downturn or the liquidity problems that followed it. As shown in the previous section, the roots of the crises were structural given the poor and inefficient framework for credit allocation. In fact, it could be argued that both banking crises were going to happen even without the currency crises.

2. THE MANAGEMENT AND RESOLUTION OF THE BANKING CRISES

The abrupt currency devaluations that Mexico and Korea faced in December 1994, and November 1997, respectively, triggered not one, but several crises: a balance of payment crisis, a banking crisis, and a corporate sector crisis (in the case of Korea), all together provoking an immediate and deep economic downturn. In this context, the resolution of the banking crisis became one of the key priorities of both governments to restore investors' confidence in their

economies, stabilize their currencies, address the structural weaknesses of their economies, and resume economic growth.

This section will focus exclusively on the analysis and comparisons of the management and resolution of the banking crises of Mexico and Korea. The linkages of the bank restructuring process with the macroeconomic adjustment program and the restructuring of the domestic corporate sector that followed the crisis is beyond the scope of this paper. The focus of the paper will be the commercial banks which in both countries constitute the largest type of financial intermediaries.

In general terms, the resolution of a banking crisis pursues the following goals: to contain systemic risks, identify and mitigate the causes of the crisis, restore the solvency and profitability of institutions, establish an adequate framework for the efficient and sound development of the banking system, and, to the extent possible, minimize the fiscal costs of a crisis. The resolution of a crisis usually involves the following stages:

- containing systemic risks
- establishment of an overall crisis resolution unit
- recognition of losses and establishment of an strategy for restoring the solvency of the banking system
- reduction of bad assets through purchase of NPLs
- recapitalization of banks
- corporate/household debt restructuring;
- strengthening of prudential regulation and supervision
- management and disposition of impaired assets

As it will be shown below, success to rapidly and effectively resolve a crisis will depend not only on the strategies and policies chosen, but also on institutional capacity of the government to manage it, the timing and sequencing of reforms along with a wide set of social and political factors. Following sections will analyze and compare the strategies and tools used by Korea and Mexico to manage and resolve their banking crises. For the convenience of the reader, table 5 summarizes the main arguments to be discussed in the following sections.

Table 5
Management and Resolution of the Banking Crises of Korea and Mexico

Pre-conditions for a rapid and successful resolution of a crisis	Korea	Mexico
Rapid and effective control of systemic risks	Yes	Yes
Institutional capacity to manage the crisis	Limited	Limited
Rapid and realistic recognition of losses	Yes	No
Policies and strategies		
Purchase of NPLs	One-time Purchases at market value	Several roundsPurchases at face value
Recapitalization of banks	Government-based	Market-based
Debt restructuring	 Slow process It covered only corporate debt restructuring 	 Slow process It covered practically all types of debtors Direct subsidies to banks and debtors Moral hazard problems
Management and disposition of impaired assets	Rapid sale of assets	Delayed
Strengthening of prudential regulation and supervision	Rapid process	Rapid process
Quality of management		
Accomplishment of main objectives pursued to resolve the banking crisis	Adequate	Sufficient
Speed of Reforms	Rapid	Slow
Transparency of decision making	Yes	No, given the large scope for discretionary decisions
Political and social obstacles faced for bank restructuring	Weak	Strong

Source: Bank staff estimates

Containing Systemic Risks

Given the weak financial condition of banks in Korea and Mexico, the loss of investors' confidence in the domestic financial markets and the uncertainty about the capability of the Mexican and Korean governments to manage and resolve their crises, the risk of a collapse of the banking system due to a deposit run became one of the most serious risks faced by the banking authorities in both countries. In this context, one the most important challenges faced by banking authorities in Korea and Mexico was to restore public confidence in the banking system, avoid a deposit run, and limit all those risks that could endanger the payment system.

To do that, the banking authorities of Korea and Mexico determined that no bank would be allowed to default on its liabilities. In particular, in both countries the government determined that it would fully guarantee bank deposits, provide liquidity to banks to meet their short-term liabilities in both domestic and foreign currencies and, in the case of Mexico, would also provide temporary capital to help banks to meet the minimum capital requirement.

Deposit Insurance

Both Korea and Mexico reacted in similar ways to protect banks' deposits. In Korea, the government fully guaranteed all deposits at all financial institutions until the end of 2000. It also merged all the existing deposit insurance agencies into a new agency, the Korea Deposit Insurance Corporation (KDIC). In Mexico, practically all banks' liabilities with the exception of subordinated debt were already implicitly protected by the Fund for Protection of Bank Savings (FOBAPROA). So, when the crisis started, the government ratified its commitment to continue to guarantee banks' liabilities. In addition, the intended deposit insurance reform, largely discussed before the crisis, was postponed until 1997.

Liquidity Support

Initially, almost all banks in Korea and Mexico required immediate liquidity support to meet their short-term liabilities in foreign currency. In both countries, the central bank provided lines of credit with short repayment periods to all banks facing liquidity problems. The interest rate was set in such a way that it would incentive rapid repayment of loans (the annual interest rate for current loans was 23% in Mexico and Libor plus 225 basis points in Korea). Neither in Korea nor in Mexico there was fiscal cost due to this type of liquidity support as the banks repaid the loans to the central bank in full by September, 1995 in the case of Mexico and by April 1999 in the case of Korea. Total support to the banks under this scheme was US\$ 46.4 billion for Mexico and US \$ 27 billion for Korea.

Temporary Recapitalization

In Mexico, in addition to the above two measures, the government established the Program for Temporary Recapitalization (PROCAPTE) in March, 1995 to provide temporary capital for those banks unable to meet the minimum 8% capital requirement. PROCAPTE was conceived as an additional instrument to confirm to the domestic and international financial markets that the government would support the domestic banks by giving them time to reach adequate levels of capitalization. As in the case of the liquidity support programs, all the PROCAPTE advances were rapidly repaid by the banks and no fiscal cost arose from this program.

In the context of the narrow objectives of all these measures, namely restore public confidence, avoid a bank run and limit systemic risks, the initial reaction of both Mexico and Korea to the crisis was successful. No single case of bank run occurred, public confidence in the banking system was preserved and most banks were able to return to the international capital markets and continue borrowing in foreign currency at similar rates to those prevailing before the crisis.

However, as it has been shown above, the banking systems in Mexico and Korea were not only facing liquidity problems or temporary capital shortfalls, but most importantly they were enduring deep insolvency exacerbated by the economic crisis. So, while the above measures provided temporary relief to the banks, they did not solve the main causes of banks' problems.

Crisis Management Unit

The rapid and successful resolution of a banking crisis requires the establishment of a special unit with wide powers to orchestrate a rapid response to the crisis, eliminate regulatory and administrative obstacles for the resolution process, design and implement a strategy, create consensus around it, coordinate involved government agencies, and ensure consistency and appropriate sequence of policies. To be successful, the unit should be established with adequate resources and highly qualified staff who should be freed of other duties that distract the tasks of the unit.

The establishment of a centralized unit for crisis resolution has several advantages. In the absence of a special unit, responsibilities for crisis management may be dispersed among several government agencies such as the ministry of finance, the central bank or the banking supervisory agency. Also, weak organizations or bureaucrats may not be able or willing to take politically-sensitive decisions. Furthermore, each agency involved in the resolution process may have its own set of institutional objectives and try to bring its own priorities for the crisis resolution program, leading to inconsistent measures or uncoordinated actions. Also, since the resolution of a banking crisis will likely affect politically or economically strong groups, dispersed and weak institutions could be easily influenced by affected groups, thus obstructing or even impeding the implementation of those actions required to resolve a crisis. Following table compares the institutional arrangements made in Mexico and Korea to manage and resolve the banking crises.

Table 6
Institutional Arrangements for Resolving the Korean and Mexican Banking Crises

Crisis Management Unit (CMU)	Korea (1998)	Mexico (1995)
Unit responsible for managing and resolving	Special Task Force within the	National Banking and
the crisis	Financial Supervisory	Securities Commission
	Commission (FSC)	(CNBV)
Budget, staff, and autonomy of the CMU		
Wide Budgetary Resources	No	Yes
Staff devoted on a full time basis to the	Yes	No, given their supervisory
management of the crisis		responsibilities
Recruitment of qualified staff in areas such	Staff recruitment in form of	No •
as: mergers and acquisitions, bank	secondments from research	
restructuring, debt and corporate sector	institutes, the central bank and	
restructuring, asset management and	the ministry of finance. No	
disposition	recruitment from the private	
	sector.	
Independence from other government	Limited	Wide
agencies		
Powers/authority of the CMU to:		
Establish preventive and corrective	Yes	Yes , de facto
measures	·	
Determine the viability of a banking	Yes	Yes, de facto
institution		
Restructure banking institutions	Yes	Yes, de facto
Establish recapitalization schemes	Yes	Yes
Decide criteria for purchases of NPLs	Yes	Yes
Determine criteria for the sale and	No	Limited
disposition of acquired NPLs		·
Issue and change prudential regulations	Limited	Limited

Source: FSS and CNBV

As shown in the above table, there are some important differences regarding the institutional arrangements made for resolving the crisis. In Korea, the Financial Restructuring Unit, a special task force within the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC), was created with the mandate of resolving the banking crisis. It was granted a wide set of powers to resolve it. However, its budget was limited and, as a result, it could not (and probably did not have the intention to) hire external experts in areas in which civil servants had only limited expertise, such as corporate debt restructuring, due diligence, mergers and acquisitions, and asset management, all of them important for resolving the crisis. FSS's staff was recruited from the former banking supervisory agency, leading research institutes, the central bank and the ministry of finance. To be able to work on a full time basis for managing the crisis, all the staff was freed from their previous responsibilities.

In Mexico, no special unit was created to manage and resolve the banking crisis. The resolution of the crisis was left in the hands of the financial supervisory authority, namely the National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV). Although this institution did not have budgetary constraints, it did not hire external experts to manage the crisis, it relied on its own staff. As in the case of Korea, independence of this institution was limited since important decisions had to be formally made in consultation with the central bank and the ministry of finance. Also, the staff in charge of the management of the crisis was not freed from their responsibilities of supervising institutions.

Regarding the powers to deal with the crisis, CNBV had de *facto* enough authority, but not extraordinary powers, to design a strategy for resolving the banking crisis, determine the viability of banks, design schemes for bank restructuring and recapitalization, determine the amount of purchases of NPLs, and intervene in practically all the stages required for resolving the banking crisis. In the case of Korea, FSC was granted *de jure* as well as *de facto* the authority and the responsibility for resolving not only the banking, but also the corporate sector crisis.

Prompt Recognition of Losses

The second precondition for a rapid crisis resolution requires the government to rapidly recognize actual and potential banks' losses. Failure to realistically recognize the magnitude and causes of the banks' problems prevents authorities from establishing a comprehensive program to resolve the crisis. Furthermore, an unrealistic recognition of problems will likely lead to the prescription of insufficient or ineffective measures, which may provide some relief in the short-term, but fail the address the underlying causes of a crisis. Moreover, since banks' problems rapidly aggravate during a crisis, delay or reluctance to recognize and stop banks' losses will allow unviable banks to stay in the market system and incur in larger losses.

A proper recognition of banks' problems is not always an easy task, because the government may be unable or unwilling to measure the true extent of bank's losses. On the one hand, the valuation of assets and liabilities at market prices may be difficult in periods of financial distress and volatility. Moreover, adequate information on banks' financial situation may not be rapidly available, not even to the banking authorities, if existing domestic accounting practices do not meet international standards. In particular, recognition of banks' losses may be difficult if

domestic accounting standards allow income to accrue interest on non-performing loans, bad loans can be rolled over, or existing loan classification and provisioning rules are not strict.

On the other hand, banking authorities may be reluctant to recognize banks' losses if a banking crisis simultaneously occur with a currency crisis or with periods of economic difficulties caused by unexpected internal or external shocks. When the economic scenario suddenly changes, financial authorities may think that bank problems are temporary, not structural, hoping that time and economic recovery will resolve problems.

In this sense, one of the most important challenges of any government attempting to resolve a banking crisis is to realistically recognize existing and potential banks' losses and its causes in order to formulate an adequate strategy to resolve it. In particular, one of the most urgent decisions that policy makers must make is to determine which banks are viable and which not. Table 7 compares the criteria and mechanisms used in Mexico and Korea to identify viable and non-viable financial institutions.

Table 7
Criteria and Procedures used for Identifying Viable and Non-Viable Banks in Korea and Mexico

Key Variables	Korea	Mexico
Who decides?	FSC with opinion of independent committee formed by representatives of the private sector and research institutes	CNBV alone
How does it decide?	Same principles for all banking institutions	On a case by case basis
Main criteria used to determine the viability of a banking institution.	 Compliance with 8% capital requirement Feasibility of rehabilitation plan Independent diagnostic review 	CNBV's own assessment on the capability of banks' shareholders to inject new capital to their institutions
When does it decide?	One-time decision for all banking institutions (June 28, 1998)	Decisions have occurred at different points in time during the last five years.

Source: FSS, CNBV and Mackey (1999)

As shown in the above table, there are important differences in the criteria and procedures used in Korea and Mexico for determining the viability of banking institutions. In Korea, decision making was based on explicit criteria and procedures and consisted of five steps:

- (i) All institutions not meeting the minimum capital adequacy ratio of 8% at the end of 1997 were identified as potentially non-viable.
- (ii) Those potentially non-viable institutions, 12 out of 24 commercial banks, were required to submit a rehabilitation plan.
- (iii) In order to have a reliable picture of banks' financial condition, FSC hired recognized accounting firms to conduct a diagnostic review of each of the ailing banks using international standards.

- (iv) To evaluate the rehabilitation plans, an independent Appraisal Committee was established. The Committee was comprised by members of FSC along with experts from research institutes, independent lawyers and auditors.
- (v) Taking into account the results of the Appraisal Committee, the Financial Supervisory Commission, determined the viability of each banking institution.

On June 28, 1998 the FSC announced its verdict. Five small to medium sized banks were closed, with their assets and liabilities transferred to five stronger banks in purchase and assumption (P&A) operations. The other 7 remaining troubled banks received conditional approval and were requested to submit revised plans by the end of July, 1998. As it will be shown below, since then no other banks have been closed, and 12 remaining weak institutions have been encouraged to merge and look for foreign shareholders.

In comparison to Korea, Mexico has proceeded in a different way. Firstly, in Mexico decisions on the viability of banks have been taken by the CNBV alone. While Korea has based its decisions on the results of a diagnostic review and the opinion of an independent committee, in Mexico CNBV has determined the viability of banks based on its own assessment. At the request of the CNBV, banks in Mexico have also been subject to diagnostic reviews by independent audit firms. However, the results of the diagnostic reviews have not been used to determine the viability of a bank.

A second difference is that while in Korea the same principles and procedures for determining the viability of an institution were applied for all commercial banks, in Mexico the viability of banks was decided on a case by case basis by the CNBV. In fact, the CNBV has not established yet specific criteria and standard procedures for determining the viability of a banking institution. As a result, decisions have been discretionary and based on the CNBV's own assessments on the capability of banks' shareholders to inject new capital into their institutions.

A third major difference is that decisions on the viability of Mexican banks have not been made at once as in Korea, but at different intervals. Indeed, the average number of months going from the identification of problems in the commercial banks to their intervention has been 17 months (Mackey, 1999, pp. 149-151) while in Korea has been much more shorter, usually 1 month after concluding the diagnostic reviews on banks.

The Mexican approach reveals the inability (or reluctance) of its financial authorities to rapidly recognize the magnitude of banks' losses. While Korea decided to assess the solvency and viability of all banks according to explicit and strict standards and procedures, Mexico has been reluctant to do it. Instead, banks were allowed to stay in the market until the CNBV finds evidence of fraudulent activities or incapability of its shareholders to inject fresh capital into the troubled institutions. Meanwhile, as shown below, all non-intervened troubled institutions have benefited from the several programs for recapitalization and purchases of non-performing loans in which a large amount of fiscal resources has been used.

However, as discussed below, evidence has shown that in spite of rapid macroeconomic recovery of Mexico, several rounds of purchases of non-performing loans, and borrowers' debt relief programs, only a few institutions not intervened during 1995 will be able to survive. Therefore,

by permitting troubled institutions to stay in the market, troubled banks have continued to make losses which eventually would have to be allocated to the public budget, or passed to depositors and borrowers in form of higher interest spreads (through either lower deposit rates or higher lending rates).

Strategies and Policies for Resolving the Crises

Once it is determined which banks are insolvent, which are weak but viable and which are sound, the next step for resolving a banking crisis is to establish mechanisms for speeding up the exit of non-viable banks and strengthening the soundness of weak but viable institutions.

This is an important step in resolving a banking crisis, because banking authorities have to make crucial decisions as to how to restructure non-viable banks and recapitalize weak but viable institutions, how and under what conditions bad assets will be removed from banks, to what extent current shareholders will assume losses, how much fiscal resources should the government allocate to resolve the crisis etc. In few words, the government needs to establish a comprehensive strategy and action plan to resolve the crisis and restore the soundness and profitability of banks.

Following sections will compare the policies implemented in Mexico and Korea to resolve their banking crises. As discussed below, the Mexican strategy can be categorized as gradualist, with slow progress and limited impact of policies. Whereas the Korean strategy can be described as a once-and-for-all solution, given their rapid response and implementation of policies to purchase NPLs, recapitalize banks with public resources and dispose impaired assets.

Purchases of Non-Performing Loans

One of the main policies used to prevent the further deterioration of a banking system's financial condition is to remove the banks' bad assets by transferring them to a separate entity. This kind of operations are usually done by a special entity that purchases the banks' NPLs at a determined price. Sometimes these entitites become responsible for managing, collecting or selling the acquired NPLs. Table 8 compares the criteria and mechanisms used in Mexico and Korea to purchase NPLs.

According to table 8, there are six important differences in the criteria and mechanisms used for buying NPLs from commercial banks in Korea and Mexico.

Firstly, in Mexico practically all non-intervened banks were allowed to sell a part of their NPLs to the government. As shown below, however, even after several rounds of purchases of NPLs, some of those institutions were unable to remain in the market. In Korea, only banks that (i) absorbed weak banking institutions, (ii) resulted from the merger of two weak institutions or (iii) resulted from the merger of a weak and a strong bank were eligible to sell their NPLs to the government.

The second major difference lies on the purchase price of the loan. In Mexico, in order to make more attractive for banks to inject capital into their institutions, loans were bought at face value

less provisions during the first round of purchases. However, in subsequent rounds of NPLs purchases, the CNBV relaxed the provisioning requirements in order to pay a higher price for the loans. Furthermore, Mexican were more generous by allowing banks to sell loans that originally were not supposed to be bought, such as related party loans, loans discounted with domestic development banks, loans held by companies in bankruptcy, etc.

Table 8
Criteria and Mechanisms Used to Purchase NPLs

Criteria	Mexico	Korea
Type of loans bought	All bad loans	Loans classified as substandard and below
Eligible banks to participate in the sale of NPLs	All non-intervened banks. Banks' shareholders had to commit to inject one dollar in fresh capital for every two dollars of NPLs bought.	 Banks acquiring weak institutions under (P&A) operations New banks resulting from the merger of two weak, but viable institutions Merger (sound bank and nonviable bank)
NPLs purchased as of June, 1999	US \$12.44 billion*	US \$27 billion from commercial banks plus US \$19 from non-banking financial institutions
NPLs purchased as % of total loan portfolio	13.7	9
Purchase price	100 % of the loan's face value less provisions	45% of the loan's face value for secured loans and 3% for insecured loans
Instrument used to pay for the purchase	Ten-year promisory notes, backed by the government. Interest was payable on the notes, but accrued over the term and was payable only at maturity (non-tradable bond).	Tradable bond backed by the government with interest paid semi-annually.
Number of times in which banks have sold NPLs	Several rounds	One round (in exceptional cases two rounds)
Institution that purchases NPLs	Fondo Bancario de Proteccion al Ahorro (FOBAPROA)	Korea Asset Management Corporation (KAMCO)
Responsibility for administering and collecting NPLs bought	Bank	KAMCO

^{*} Includes loans from banks and transport loans. Sources: FOBAPROA, IPABE and KAMCO

In comparison to Mexico, Korea established stricter criteria for pricing NPLs. Before September 1998, the Korea Asset Management Corporation (KAMCO) used a complicated system for valuing and pricing NPLs buying NPLs at an average 55% of their face value. However, in September, 1998 the system was modified. Since then, secured loans have been bought at only 45% of their face value, while unsecured loans have been bought at 3% of their face value. Table 9 describes in more detail the criteria for pricing NPLs in Korea.

Table 9

Type of Assets bought by the Korea Asset Management Corporation

Assets	Sub-type	Purchase Price
Ordinary NPLs	Secured NPLs	45% of appraised value of collateral
(non-performing assets currently in default, making no payments)	Unsecured NPLs	3% of face value
Special NPLs	Secured NPLs	45% of face value
(non-performing assets that have obtained court protection)	Unsecured NPLs	3% of face value

Source: KAMCO

Thirdly, in Mexico the purchase of NPLs was established not only as a program to remove bad assets from weak banks, but also as an incentive to encourage banks' shareholders to inject new capital into their institutions. Thus, banks willing to sell their bad assets to the government had to increase their capital. For every dollar injected by shareholders into the bank, the government bought two dollars of non-performing loans (face value). In Korea, on the contrary, the government has bought NPLs from banks regardless of the new capital injected by their shareholders. In fact, when a bank faces a capital shortfall resulting from the sale of NPLs, the government will inject capital and automatically become shareholder of the institution, usually the major shareholder.

A fourth important difference lies on the responsibilities for the collection and administration of the loan. In Korea, KAMCO has the mandate to administer and collect NPLs. In Mexico, on the contrary, when FOBAPROA purchases a loan, it acquires only an interest in the cash flows from it. The bank remains responsible for the collection from its customers and for the administration of the loan portfolio.

A fifth major difference lies on the share of losses derived from the collection of NPLs. As mentioned above, in Mexico NPLs have been bought at the highest possible price (face value) less provisions. However, since in most cases only a small fraction of value of a loan can be recovered, the banks assume up to 25% of the resulting losses, and FOBAPROA all the remaining losses. In Korea, given that loans are bought either at 45% or at 3% of their face value, banks assume from the beginning a large loss. Once the loan is sold to KAMCO, KAMCO assumes any further loss (but also any possible gain) derived from the recovery of the loan.

Finally, a sixth major difference is the payment mechanism. In Mexico, when FOBAPROA bought NPLs, banks received ten-year promisory notes backed by the government. Interest is payable on the notes, but accrued over the term and they are payable only at maturity. In Korea, banks receive bonds issued by KAMCO backed by the government (interest is paid semi-annually), but, since they can be traded, banks can exchange them for liquid instruments.

When compared to Korea, Mexico appears to have been too benevolent with its banks, particularly with the banks' shareholders. Practically all weak banks were given the opportunity to transfer a large part of their NPLs to FOBAPROA at a very favorable price (face value less provisions). Moreover, definition of eligible loans which could be sold to FOBAPROA was relaxed to include related party loans, loans discounted with domestic development banks, etc.

Furthermore, the losses derived from the recovery of the loans were limited to a maximum of 25% for the banks.

The different approaches used in Korea and Mexico reveal two different set of objectives and approaches for bank restructuring. Mexicans have been generous and flexible enough to allow their banking institutions to gain time to recover. Shareholders have been given wide incentives and enough time to recapitalize their banks. Intervention of banks has been seen as the last policy option. Banks have been intervened only when shareholders fail (usually after several attempts) to inject capital into their institutions or when authorities have found evidence of wide fraudulent activities.

The Korean authorities, on the contrary, have been much stricter. Non-viable banks have been rapidly identified and restructured. Weak but viable institutions have received strong support from the government, but at the same time their shareholders have had to assume a large part of the losses. Purchases of NPLs have occurred at market values, while banks' shareholders have been "forced" to rapidly recapitalize their banks. Any capital shortfall has been covered by the government which has become the major shareholder of the Korean banking system.

Recapitalization with Public Resources

One of the first measures taken by financial authorities in Mexico and Korea to foster the recapitalization of banks was to lift the limits for foreign ownership of financial institutions. In Mexico, limits were lifted from 30% to 49% in 1997, while in Korea they were completely eliminated in 1998.

However, given the deep economic recession of Korea and Mexico, the lack of confidence on both financial systems, and the adverse international scenario that both countries faced after the devaluation of their respective currencies, banks could not rapidly find a foreign or domestic partner willing to inject the required capital. In order to restore the soundness of their banking system as rapidly as possible both countries established recapitalization schemes with public resources. Table 10 illustrates the different criteria and mechanisms used in Mexico and Korea to inject public resources into the banks.

As shown in the table, there are three main differences in the schemes used for bank recapitalization in Korea and Mexico.

First, in Korea the amount for injection of public funds into the banks has been allocated almost from the beginning. 64 trillion won, equivalent to US \$54 billion, were set aside for restructuring the financial sector in September, 1998. 32 trillion out of the 64 trillion won were allocated for recapitalization of commercial banks and, in a much minor scale, other financial institutions. In Mexico, on the contrary, no specific amount has been allocated for injections of public funds into banks. The amount has been periodically increased as needed.

Secondly, in Korea weak but viable commercial banks can obtain fiscal support only under three specific circumstances: When a bank acquires a weak institution under a P&A procedures, when a strong and a weak institution merge, and when two weak but viable institutions merge. In the first two cases, the fiscal support is used to compensate the strong bank for any possible losses

derived from acquiring a weak institution. In the third case, the bank resulting from the merger of two weak institutions receives fiscal support. In Mexico, the recapitalization of weak but viable banks with government resources has been made on a case by case basis. Usually, once FOBAPROA covers the bank's capital shortfall, the government sells its equity stake on the bank to a foreign investor or to another Mexican bank.

Table 10
Recapitalization of Banking Institutions with Public Resources

	Mexico	Korea
Institution that injects capital	FOBAPROA. In December 1998, a new institute replaced FOBAPROA. Its name is Bank Savings Protection Institute (IPABE).	Korea Deposit Insurance Corporation (KDIC)
Amount allocated for recapitalization	Variable, it has been increased as required.	32 trillion won (US\$ 26.6 billion)
Public resources used for Bank Recapitalization as of June, 1999	US \$ 61.5 billion (including resources for recapitalization and "saneamiento" restructuring)	US \$ 22 billion
Purpose of recapitalization	Cover deposit liabilities and capital shortfall	Cover deposit liabilities and capital shortfall
Target attempted with recapitalization	Help restore capital, but without a concrete target	Increase the CAR to 10%
Principles for recapitalization of insolvent institutions	 Write-down the equity of existing shareholders Remove managers responsible for losses Sale the governments' equity stake in the bank to a foreign investor 	 Write-down the equity of existing shareholders Remove managers responsible for losses
Principles for recapitalization of weak, but viable institutions	Recapitalization decided on a case by case basis. Once the FOBAPROA covered the capital shortfall, the bank was either sold to foreign or domestic investors.	 Banks participating in: Business transfer (P&A) New banks resulting from the merger of two weak, but viable institutions) Merger (sound bank and nonviable bank)

Source: FSS, CNBV and FOBAPROA

Thirdly, in Korea, the amount of capital injected by KDIC into a bank must be enough to maintain the capital adequacy ratio of a strong bank that acquired a weak institution. In the case of merger of two weak institutions, then the capital injected has to be enough to bring the BIS capital ratio to 10%. In Mexico there is no specific target to be achieved with the recapitalization, the amount of capital to be injected is determined by the CNBV.

In both countries, when the government recapitalizes a bank, the fiscal support can be used either to cover both deposit liabilities of banks or capital shortfalls. At the end of 1998, the Korean government had become the owner of the 75% of the banking system.

Debt Restructuring

Efforts to recapitalize a banking system with either government or private funds can become unsuccessful if the borrowers' capability (or willingness) to repay their loans is not restored. In countries that have endured a deep economic crisis such as Korea and Mexico, the capability of

firms and individual households to repay their loans can only be restored if a sustainable process of economic recovery takes place, firms regain solvency through operational and financial restructuring, and private households' real income sufficiently increases to enable them to honor their liabilities.

Having acknowledged the enormous impact of the crisis on borrowers' ability to meet their liabilities, Mexico and Korea established special programs and incentives to support those weak but potentially solvent borrowers to repay their loans. Thus, special arrangements between creditors and borrowers were established to facilitate debt restructuring through temporary suspension of payments, interest rate reductions, extension of loan maturities, partial debt forgiveness, debt to equity conversions, etc.

As shown in the table below, there are five major differences in the debt restructuring processes that have taken place in Korea and Mexico:

Table 11

Debt Restructuring in Korea and Mexico

Mexico (1995-1999)	Korea (1998-1999)
21.4 in 1994	71.5 in 1997
Yes	No
Both large conglomerates as well as	Largest conglomerates (representing
small debtors	60% of bank lending) and small and
	medium enterprises
Coordinating Unit for Bank-Enterprise	Two approaches for the corporate
Agreement (UBABE) which promoted a	restructuring:
voluntary debt work-out program for the	Top 5 chaebol restructuring
largest domestic corporations.	program.
	 Voluntary debt work-out for the 6-
	64 companies.
Voluntary debt-work-out programs for	Voluntary debt work-out for small and
practically all small debtors.	medium size enterprises
Government assumes up to 75% of any	None. Losses derived from debt
losses derived from debt restructuring of	restructuring are assumed by the banks.
small borrowers.	
	Yes Both large conglomerates as well as small debtors Coordinating Unit for Bank-Enterprise Agreement (UBABE) which promoted a voluntary debt work-out program for the largest domestic corporations. Voluntary debt-work-out programs for practically all small debtors. Government assumes up to 75% of any losses derived from debt restructuring of

Source: CNBV, FSS, FOBAPROA and KAMCO

Magnitude of the Problem. Firstly, by any parameter, the amount of troubled debt faced by Korean banks far exceeded the bad debt faced by Mexican banks. This is due to the fact that Korean banks' loan portfolios have been traditionally larger than in Mexico. While in Mexico banks' loan portfolios represented 21.4% of GDP in 1994, in Korea they represented 71.5% of GDP in 1997. In addition, Korean banks faced much more leveraged borrowers than Mexican banks. In Korea, for example, the debt to equity ratio of major 30 chaebols, which account for 60% of bank credit in 1997, exceeded 500% at the end of 1997. In Mexico, the average debt to equity ratio of major 500 domestic corporations did not exceed 83% in 1994.

Reluctance of Borrowers to Repay their Loans. A second major difference lies on the reluctance of borrowers to repay their loans. In comparison to Korea, Mexico not only faced the lack of capability, but also the unwillingness of a large part of borrowers to repay their loans. It

should not be a surprise that as a result of the dramatic increase in the average lending rates in the aftermath of the currency devaluation, which went up from 20% to 150% in less than three months, and the rapid drop of real wages of Mexican borrowers, which decreased by 30% during 1995, a large number of Mexican borrowers became unwilling to repay their loans. Mexican borrowers perceived that the rapid and huge increase in interest rates far exceeded any reasonable limit that debtors could and should be forced to pay. Furthermore, they perceived that the crisis was caused by a set of economic policy mistakes for which they were not responsible at all. Moreover, a large part of debtors across the country rapidly and spontaneously organized in several groups and stop repaying their loans, claiming for better conditions for debt repayment, given the deteriorating economic conditions.

Given the increasing social discontent provoked by the severe impact of the crisis on the living standard of the Mexican population, the government desisted from amending bankruptcy laws and enforcing creditors rights. Instead, as discussed below, it established several programs and incentives to "encourage" debtors to continue to repay their loans and/or restructure them.

Type of Restructured Debt. The third major difference lies on the type of restructured debt. In Korea, the debt restructuring process has basically focused on large conglomerates which account for the largest part of banks' lending portfolio, and in a much less scale on small and medium enterprises. No debt restructuring schemes have been established for households. In Mexico, where banks' lending portfolio is more diversified between large corporations, small and medium enterprises and small households, the debt restructuring process has practically covered all type of debtors.

Fiscal Support. A fourth major difference lies on the extent of fiscal support for debt restructuring. In Korea, no fiscal resources have been used to directly support corporate debt restructuring. Korean banks have been forced to bear any losses resulting from debt restructuring. In Mexico, losses derived from debt restructuring of large corporations' have been assumed by banks. However, in the case of debt restructuring of small debtors, the government has assumed up to 75% of the resulting losses. According to the CNBV, the total fiscal costs of debtor programs amounted to 119.7 billion pesos, or US \$12.3 billion at the end of June, 1998.

Programs for Debt Restructuring. Programs and instrument used for debt restructuring in both countries vary according to the type of debtor. In Korea, there are basically four programs for corporate debt restructuring: (i) court liquidation of non-viable corporations, (ii) the voluntary top 5 chaebol restructuring program, (iii) voluntary debt work-out for the 6-64 companies and (iv) debt restructuring of small and medium enterprises. The second and third type of programs constitute the main instruments for corporate debt restructuring in Korea.

The restructuring program for the top 5 chaebols focuses on their voluntary restructuring efforts based on their Capital Structural Improvement Plans (CSIPS) agreed between banks and chaebols under the government sponsorship on December 18, 1998. Under the CSIPS, the top 5 chaebols have committed to reduce debts to equity ratios from 500% at the end of 1997 to less than 200% by the end of 1999 through financial re-engineering, sale of assets, mergers and acquisitions, removal of cross guarantees, reduction of affiliate companies and equity rights issues.

For the most distressed Korean 6-64 chaebols, Korea has adopted a creditor-led, extra-judicial framework for the resolution of problem debtors, incorporating the so-called London Rules. A Corporate Restructuring Agreement (CRA) was signed by Korean banks and non-bank financial institutions, which commits them to follow agreed workout procedures. These procedures include the appointment of eight Lead Banks that negotiate the workouts with the major corporate groups, and the establishment of an arbitration and quality control body in the form of the Corporate Restructuring Coordination Committee (CRCC). If financial institutions cannot agree on a workout strategy among themselves, or the Lead Bank and the debtor cannot reach agreement, the CRCC must resolve these differences.

In Mexico, a similar scheme for debt restructuring of large conglomerates was established in 1995. On December 13, 1995 the CNBV and the Mexican Bankers Association established the Coordinating Unit for Bank-Enterprise Agreement (Unidad Coordinadora para el Acuerdo Bancario Empresarial, or UCABE) to facilitate the debt restructuring of the largest 40 debtors through voluntary out-of-court agreements between creditors and debtors. These largest debtors generally have obligations to the banking system of between US\$150 million to US\$500 million and together represent approximately 10% of total bank lending. As in the case of Korea, in Mexico only companies considered viable in accordance with criteria established by the banks were eligible to participate in the UCABE debt restructuring schemes.

In addition to this program for corporate debt restructuring, Mexico has established several programs to help small debtors to repay their loans over the last four years. The type of debtors that have received benefited from these programs are: Micro, small and medium size enterprises; debtors from agriculture, fishing, livestock and forestry sectors; low and middle income residential mortgage holders, and individuals with personal loans and loans for acquisition of consumed durable goods and credit card debtors.

Strengthening of Regulation and Supervision

One of the most important steps for resolving a banking crisis is to identify and eliminate those distortions and weaknesses in the legal and regulatory framework that prevent banks from being prudently and efficiently managed. This requires the establishment of stricter standards on prudential regulation and supervision, better accounting and disclosure practices, rapid exit mechanisms for inefficient and non-viable institutions, and a strict set of sanctions for fraudulent and illicit financial practices.

Table 12 compares and scores progress of Korea and Mexico in improving the overall framework and incentive structure of their banking systems. As shown in the table, since the onset of the crisis both Korea and Mexico have made notable progress in adopting international standards of prudential regulation, improving both its on-site and off-site supervision, and overall modernizing the incentives and basic infrastructure for efficient banking system. In Korea, for example, a new supervisory agency, the Financial Supervisory Service (FSS), has been established to supervise the banking, securities, insurance and non-banking sectors on a consolidated basis. In a similar way, in Mexico the banking and securities supervisory agencies have been merged into the National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV). Also, in both countries the banking law has been amended and new regulations have been issued to limit

connected lending, improve the loan classification and provisioning system, reduce exposure to foreign exchange risks, limit the coverage of the deposit insurance scheme, and improve accounting standards.

Table 12
Progress of Korea and Mexico in Improving their Frameworks for Credit Allocation

Minimum institutional pre-conditions for an	Mexico	Mexico	Korea	Korea
efficient banking system	(1994)	(1999)	(1997)	(1999)
Adequate Legal Framework and Prudential Regulation		'		
1. Rapid foreclosure of guarantees and recovery of loans when	0	0	1	2
debtors are no longer able to repay				
2. Capital requirement in accordance with the Basle Capital Accord	1	2	1	2
Accounting practices in compliance with internationally accepted standards		2	1	3
Loan classification system designed to measure borrowers'		2	1	2
present and future capability to repay	1	_	•	_
Loan loss provision requirements in accordance with international		1	1	2
standards	1		-	
6. Adequate regulations to limit market risks (interest rate, foreign	1	3	1	3
exchange and liquidity)			1	
7. Regulations on large exposure and connected lending in	2	3	1	3
compliance with international standards				
Effective Supervision of the Banking Industry				
8. Single specialized entity in banking supervision	3	3	1	3
9. Independent supervisory authority	1	1	0	2
10. Supervision focused not only to assessing compliance with the	0	3	0	2
law, but also in identifying and limiting potential risks for banking				
institutions (off site supervision)				
11. Consolidated supervision	0	2	0	2
12. Adequate manuals for on site examination	0	3	1	3
13. Regular training of bank supervisors	1	3	1	3
14. Supervisory authority empowered to impose a wide range of		2	0	2
sanctions including change of management and suspension of				
activities				
Qualified Management				
15. Bank managers with several years of experience in the banking	1	3	2	3
industry				
16. Licensing process that requires strict assessment of technical	1	2	1	2
skills and moral integrity of owners and management				
17. Management of banks free from political interference	3	3	0	2
18. Adequate credit and market risk management capacity within	1	2	1	2
banks				
Strong Market Discipline				
19. Set of prompt corrective actions to be applied when financial	0	0	0	3
institutions fail to meet the minimum capital requirements		3	1	3
20. Strict sanction for fraudulent activities and illicit financial		3	1) 3
practices 21. Mechanisms for rapid exit of non-viable financial institutions		1	0	3
22. Limited deposit insurance	0	2	3	3
		1		55
Total	20	46	18	33

0=non-compliance, 1=partial compliance, 2=satisfactory compliance, 3=full compliance with best international standards
Source: Bank staff estimates

Although progress in strengthening prudential regulation and supervision along with the overall incentive structure of the Korean and Mexican banking systems has been notable, some key elements of regulation and supervision in both countries are still behind the international standards. Rules and incentives to reduce intermediaries' exposure to both credit and market risks are weak. New loan classification systems based on borrowers' present and future capability to repay have not been implemented yet. Also, banks' risk-management systems are still incipient. Additionally, the new supervisory agencies still lack of independence. Moreover, in the case of Korea manuals and methodologies for supervision need to be upgraded, supervisors need to be trained into the new approach of risk-based supervision, and the overall infrastructure for on site and off site supervision of intermediaries needs to be strengthened.

The establishment of a new framework for the sound and efficient development of the financial system is in itself a long term task. Given the nature of these reforms, many changes in the framework for credit allocation will require a long implementation period. Enforcement of new accounting standards, capital requirements, loan classification and provisioning rules can only be done gradually.

Sale of Impaired Assets

When compared to Korea, Mexico has lacked an asset disposition strategy since the onset of the crisis. As shown in the following table, only a very marginal part of the assets acquired by FOBAPROA have been sold, while the value of the remaining assets has continued to decrease. The proceeds that could have already been obtained from the rapid sale of the FOBAPROA's assets would have helped to reduce the fiscal cost of the crisis.

Table 13
Acquisitions and Sales of Impaired Assets in Korea and Mexico (face value)

	Mexico Dec. 94-June 99	Korea Dec. 97-June 99
Acquired NPLs (face value)	\$218,700 million pesos*	44 trillion won
Sales as of June, 1999	Less than \$10,000 million pesos	16 trillion won
Disposition and sales/total acquired assets (%)	Less than 4.6	36

* Including NPLs bought directly from banks and acquired as a result of banks' intervention Source: FOBAPROA and KAMCO

Part of the reason for not selling the NPLs is because FOBAPROA did not have legal rights to collect bank loans. Under the loan portfolio purchase agreements, FOBAPROA had only an interest in the cash flow, not an interest in the loans themselves. Responsibility for administering and collecting loans lies on the banks themselves. Furthermore, if assets were completely transferred to FOBAPROA for sale, then the banks would no longer have responsibility for sharing the losses derived from their recovery.

The Mexican banks, however, do not have incentives to recover the loans. As mentioned above, the government bought the assets at a high price and assumed the large part of the losses derived

from the recovery of loans. Also, under the current bankruptcy and foreclosure laws, recovery of loans can take many years. Therefore, there is practically no incentive for banks to recover defaulted loans.

Mexico and Korea represent two different examples of loan recovery and disposition. As of end-June 1999, the total face value of the NPLs purchased in Korea by KAMCO was W 46 trillion (10 percent of GDP), for which KAMCO paid W 20.4 trillion. As shown in Table 14, KAMCO has already made some progress in disposing and selling acquired NPLs. The most successful recoveries have come from (a) international sales, (b) foreclosure auctions, and (c) collections.

Through these sales and dispositions, KAMCO has in fact recovered on average 53% of the face value of the loans it acquired. In other words, KAMCO has been able to recover more than what it paid (45% of the face value on average) for the NPLs. In Mexico, authorities estimate that only 20% of the face value of the FOBAPROA's assets will be recovered given their long and irreversible deterioration.

Table 14
Disposition and Sale of KAMCO's Assets

Disposition/Sale	Amount (face value)	Recovered amount
International sale	2.9	1.2
Foreclosure auction	2.1	1.0
Public Sale	0.2	0.1
Collection	11.3	6.5
Total	16.5	8.8

Source: KAMCO

There are at least three important lessons that can be drawn from the contrasting experiences between Mexico and Korea. Firstly, delay on selling and disposing acquired assets can be extremely expensive, since the value of assets deteriorate over time. Secondly, a rapid sale of NPLs can help authorities to reduce the fiscal cost derived from the purchases of NPLs. In fact, when the recovery is larger than the amount paid for the bad assets, the overall cost of a crisis could also be reduced. Thirdly, the creation of proper incentives for banks for asset recovery, the strengthening of the asset management and disposition functions at the acquiring agency, and the establishment of a proper legal framework for rapid asset recovery should be done at the early stages of the crisis.

3. ASSESSING THE MANAGEMENT AND RESOLUTION OF THE MEXICAN AND KOREAN BANKING CRISES

Mexico and Korea have made subst0antial progress in almost all the stages required to resolve their banking crises. Systemic risks, for instance, were rapidly controlled, investors' confidence on both banking systems has been restored, and programs to recapitalize banks have been established along with mechanisms to purchase, manage and dispose bad assets from the banking system. Moreover, prudential regulation and supervision have been significantly strengthened and authorities are in the process of addressing the overall structural causes of the crises.

Notwithstanding these achievements, the resolution of the Korean and Mexican banking crises has not concluded yet. As discussed below, both banking systems still need to restore their long term solvency and profitability. In addition, Mexico needs to address the dramatic drop in bank lending (more than 60% since 1994), whereas Korea needs to continue the restructuring of the still large debt of domestic corporations. Moreover, in both countries further improvements in the regulatory framework and incentive structure of their banking systems are still required. The large part of acquired bad assets needs to be sold, current government ownership of banks needs to be divested, and commercial banks need to strengthen their risk management capacity.

Since neither the Korean nor the Mexican banking crises have been completely resolved, it might be premature to carry out a comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of the strategies and programs implemented in both countries. Instead, this section will briefly compare some of the main areas in which more progress is required to completely resolve the crises. This section will also assess the quality of the management of the crisis in terms of transparency of decision making, speed of reforms, and political and social obstacles faced in the resolution.

Assessing the Resolution of the Banking Crises in Terms of Speed of Reforms and Remaining Agenda

As shown in the following table, progress in Korea has been more substantial and rapid than in Mexico. Although initial responses for containing systemic risks were rapid in both countries, decision making and policy implementation in the other stages of banking crisis resolution have been faster in Korea than in Mexico.

Table 15
Assessing Progress to Resolve the Mexican and Korean Banking Crises

Main Goals of the Programs to Resolve the Banking Crises	Mexico (Dec. 94-June 99)	Korea (Dec.97-June 99)	
Contain systemic risks, avoid bank runs and protect the payment system	3	3	
Restore investors' confidence	3	3	
Maintain banks' main role in allocating credit to the economy	0	3	
Resolve non-viable banks	1	2	
Restore the long-term solvency of the banking system	2	2	
Restore the long-term profitability of the banking system	1	1	
Sale acquired bad assets from ailing banks	0	1	
Sale equity participations of government in the banking system	2	1	
Establish an adequate framework for the efficient and sound development of the banking system	2	2	
Total	14	18	

0=no progress, 1=some progress, 2=significant progress, 3=completely achieved Source: Bank staff estimates

To some extent, the speed of reforms has been the result of the strategies chosen and implemented in each country. In Korea, the rapid and realistic recognition of the magnitude of the banking sector problems has enabled banking authorities to rapidly restructure distressed banks. Furthermore, the rapid allocation of 64 trillion in public resources for bank recapitalization and purchases of NPLs was made possible by willingness to rapidly recognize losses and resolve problems.

In Mexico, the resolution of the crisis has been done on a gradual basis. The gradualist approach adopted in Mexico has been the result of the inability (or reluctance) of their authorities to rapidly and realistically recognize the magnitude of banks' losses. As a consequence, the recapitalization programs, the purchase of NPLs, and the different schemes to support debt restructuring have not been implemented on large scale basis as in Korea. Implementation has proceeded slowly, on several rounds, as required by the circumstances, and with limited impact.

Notwithstanding the notable progress of Korea and Mexico in resolving their banking crises, the agenda for completing the crises resolution remains large in both countries.

One of the most important pending tasks is to completely restore the solvency of their banking systems. As of June, 1999, the average capital adequacy ratios of commercial banks in Mexico and Korea was 16% and 9.5%, respectively. Although both indicators surpass the minimum 8% requirement, they are still insufficient to ensure the long term soundness of both banking systems. The enforcement of tighter loan classification rules, scheduled for year 2000 in both countries, will probably increase the amount of nominal NPLs and decrease the level of capital. It is estimated that Korean banks may need an additional injection of 10 trillion won (US \$8.3 billion) and Mexican banks at least 50 billion pesos (US \$5 billion) to meet the new loan classification standards alone. Also, in the case of Korea, banks' losses may increase as further corporate debt restructuring takes place. The decreasing, but still large amount of non-restructured debt of domestic corporations owed to domestic banks, which at the end of June, 1999 amounted to 200,000 billion won (or \$US 166 billion), is susceptible of being restructured.

In the case of Mexico, an important weakness of the overall resolution strategy is that the primary function of banks, namely the mobilization of resources towards the financing of productive investments and consumption, has been dramatically undermined since the beginning of the crisis. Bank lending in Mexico has declined by more than 60% in real terms since 1994. This has reduced the banks' main source of income preventing them to reestablish their solvency and profitability. Also, the rapid decline of bank lending has become a drag on economic growth, specially because small and medium size enterprises do not have access to international financing.

The rapid decrease in bank lending is, to a large extent, the result of the delay to improve the framework to protect and enforce creditors' rights which has discouraged banks to resume lending. As discussed above, the lack of an adequate bankruptcy law has also severely undermined the debt restructuring programs by discouraging even good borrowers to repay their loans, thus increasing the fiscal costs of the crisis.

Another area in which more progress is required in both Korea and Mexico is the sale and disposition of impaired assets acquired from ailing bank institutions. While Korea has already made some progress in selling and disposing more than 36% of the acquired assets, Mexico lags far behind, since assets sold as of June, 1999 represented only 1% of the total acquired assets.

Also, in the case of Korea more efforts are required to reprivatize or sell the governments' majority equity participation in 4 of the largest banks (Seoul Bank, Hanvit, Cho Hung Bank and

Korea First Bank) whose assets represent 50% of the banking system. In the case of Mexico, also more progress is needed to complete the liquidation of 7 commercial banks (Anahuac, Capital, Cremi, Interestatal, Obrero, Oriente, Union), and complete the sale of other 4 banks (Bancrecer, Atlantico, Promex, Inverlat, Serfin).

Table 16
Current status of the Mexican and Korean Commercial Banks
(Banks existing before the Crises)

Bank Restructuring	Mexico	Korea
Banks in which the government is the major shareholder	0	4
Banks waiting for liquidation (with injection of public	7	0
resources)		
Liquidated Banks	0	0
Banks merged or acquired by domestic bank	2	10
Banks with foreign partner (minority shareholder)	3	3
Banks merged to or acquired by foreign institution (majority	. 3	1
shareholder)		
Banks under special monitoring or pending resolution	5	0
Banks able to survive without major restructuring	4	6
Total	24	26

Sources: FSS and CNBV

Finally, more progress is needed in strengthening prudential regulation and supervision in Mexico as well as in Korea. In particular, Mexico needs to establish a prompt corrective action system, whereas Korea needs to strengthen its on-site and off-site supervision. Also, both countries need to grant autonomy to the supervisory agencies, improve domestic standards on corporate governance for financial institutions and encourage banks to continue improving their risk management capacity.

Assessing the Quality of Management of the Mexican and Korean Banking Crises

Following sections will compare the management of both crises in terms of transparency of decision making, and social and political obstacles faced for resolving the crisis.

Transparency of Decision-making

Overall, the management of the banking crisis in Korea has been much more transparent than in Mexico. As shown in table 17, key decisions such as the viability of institutions, the amount of NPLs bought from banks and the extent of fiscal support to banks have been made using a transparent framework with explicit criteria and procedures for decision making. Furthermore, decisions on the viability of banks have been taken with help of an independent committee. By using explicit and transparent procedures equally applicable for all institutions, market participants have perceived government's decisions as impartial and, as a result, the credibility of authorities has been strengthened.

Table 17
Transparency of Decision-making
Selected Decisions

Key Decisions	Mexico	Korea
Determine the viability of banks	0	2
Determine the amount of fiscal support for recapitalizing ailing banks	0	2
Determine the amount of NPLs to be purchased from ailing banking institutions	1	2
Determine which banks could sell NPLs	2	2
Total	3	8

0=discretionary, 1= partially transparent, 2=completely transparent Source: Bank staff estimates

When compared to Korea, in Mexico there has been on average more scope for discretionary decisions. Important decisions such as the viability of banks or the amount of NPLs purchased from ailing banks has been determined on a case by case basis. In some cases, the lack of a transparent framework with specific explicit criteria and procedures for decision making has contributed to the perception that government has rescued bank's shareholders at the expense of taxpayers.

Main Social and Political Constraints

Two factors completely ignored in the recent literature on banking crises are the political and social constraints faced by policy makers to manage and resolve a crisis. Given the large magnitude of systemic banking crises, practically the whole process of crisis resolution, including the design of strategies and policies, the timing and sequence of reforms as well as the final outcomes, can be influenced by social and political constraints faced by policy makers.

The following table illustrates some of the most important constraints faced in Mexico and Korea for resolving their banking crises.

Table 18
Political and Social Constraints Faced by Mexico and Korea
for Resolving their Banking Crises

Constraints derived from:	Mexico	Korea
Political factors		
Weak government	No	No
Strong interest groups (bankers)	Yes	No
Strong labor unions	No	Yes
Parliament opposition	Initially no, but after July 97 yes	No
Strong opposition from public opinion	Yes	No
Social factors		
Unwillingness of borrowers to repay their loans	Yes	No
Deteriorating living standards during the years before the crisis	Yes	No

Source: Bank staff estimates

Clearly, each country has faced different types of constraints for managing and resolving their crises. In Korea, the most important constraint for the bank restructuring program has come from the labor unions which have opposed to the drastic staff cuts carried out by banks since the beginning of the crisis. Nonetheless, banks have been able to reduce their personnel by 30% since then. As shown in the table above, other than strong labor opposition, the government has been able to implement its bank restructuring reform program without any major constraint.

In Mexico, on the contrary, the government has faced much more constraints for resolving the banking crisis. Firstly, the government has had to face a powerful group of banks' owners, organized under the Mexican Association of Banks, one of the most powerful interest groups in Mexico. In fact, one of the main reasons as to why the Mexicans never considered the nationalization of their banking system through rapid dilution of private shareholders and rapid injection of fiscal resources to restore the soundness of banks (the Korean approach), was because of the fear that such a measure would erode domestic investors' confidence on their financial system. The huge capital flight that took place after the government nationalized the banking system in 1982 was a fact still present in the mind of government officials in charge of the banking crisis of 1994.

It is still questionable whether a rapid renationalization of the largest distressed banks, as has occurred in Korea, would have really provoked a loss of investors' confidence in Mexico. Do domestic investors really behave differently in each country? In Korea, the rapid nationalization of insolvent and weak banks has been one of the most important elements to restore confidence in the banking system by showing the government's determination to resolve it. The idea that domestic investors in Korea and Mexico behave differently is an interesting topic that can not be investigated in this paper.

The second major constraint to the government's scheme for resolving the Mexican crisis has come from the parliament's lower house. Until August 1997, the lower house had been dominated by the governments' political party. Under this context, any amendments to the laws required to facilitate the banking resolution process was guaranteed. However, since September 1997, the parliament's lower house is no longer dominated by the governments' party but by the opposition. Since then, almost no new amendment has been passed to facilitate the governments' strategy for banking resolution. In fact, Congress has initiated an exhaustive review of the whole process for resolving the banking crisis. As a result, some loan purchases by FOBAPROA have been declared illegal, since some loans were not eligible to be acquired by FOBAPROA. Furthermore, opposition has found that a significant of part of loans purchased by FOBAPROA belong to solvent domestic companies and households who, in the absence of an appropriate legal framework for loan recovery, stopped repaying their loans.

A third major constraint in Mexico has come from the banks' borrowers themselves, organized in "El Barzon". Given the inability of a large segment of borrowers to repay their loans due to the downturn on economic activity, increasing unemployment and rising interest rates, "El Barzon" has been able to organize small and medium size debtors across the country and articulate their demands for debt restructuring. This group has become one of the major obstacles for reforming the bankruptcy and foreclosure laws which would have made easier for banks to take possession of guarantees.

Finally, another major factor that limited the implementation of the program to resolve the Mexican banking crisis was the lack of public support to it. The different attitudes of the public opinion in Mexico and Korea could be attributed to the fact that the banking crises occurred in countries with two different records of economic performance and social development. In the case of Mexico, the 1994 crisis was the third major economic crisis since 1982. Furthermore, as a result of those recurrent crises and overall poor performance of the Mexican economy, living standards had dramatically declined over this period with real wages falling by more than 50% since then. In Korea, on the contrary, the 1997 crisis was the first economic downturn experienced by the country over the last 30 years. Moreover, Korea's record of economic performance had been outstanding with an average annual GDP growth of 8% over the last three decades which enabled it to improve living standards within a short period of time.

CONCLUSIONS

Systemic banking crises reflect not only macroeconomic imbalances of a country, but also structural weaknesses in the incentive framework of the financial sector itself, such as inefficient management, poor market discipline, poor prudential regulation and supervision, weak bankruptcy laws, ineffective judicial systems, lack of transparency and disclosure of information, weak corporate governance and a poor credit culture. Moreover, as shown in the case of Korea, a banking crisis may reveal structural weaknesses in the productive structure of a country or, even worst, it may be just a symptom of a much larger problem caused by the obsolescence of a development model.

Given the large magnitude and multiple causes of a banking crisis, the resolution of a crisis is a complex process. It depends on a wide set of factors including the pace of macroeconomic recovery of a country, rapid and realistic recognition of banks' problems, proper linkages between bank recapitalization and debt restructuring programs, and rapid resolution of insolvent and weak banking institutions. Furthermore, success to resolve a crisis will also depend on the institutional capacity of the government to manage it, the sequence and timing of policy implementation, the willingness to reform and implement painful and unpopular measures, and the social and political constraints faced by decision makers.

As discussed in this paper, Mexico and Korea have adopted two different strategies for resolving their banking crises. Mexico has adopted a "gradualist" approach with slow progress in almost all stages of crisis resolution. To a large extent, the Mexican strategy has been determined by the inability (or reluctance) of their authorities to rapidly recognize the magnitude of banks' problems at the early stages of the crisis. Unsurprisingly, the measures and programs implemented to resolve the crisis have provided temporary relief to banking institutions, but they have failed to rapidly address the causes of the banks' problems and restore the soundness and profitability of banking institutions.

Before intervening or restructuring a bank, Mexican bankers have been given enough time and incentives to recapitalize their institutions or, alternatively, find other domestic or foreign investors capable of injecting the required capital. Recapitalization with public resources has been seen as the last policy option. However, given the adverse market conditions faced by the

Mexican economy during the crisis, the injection of additional capital into the banking system has been slow and insufficient.

Also, several programs have been established by the CNBV to support domestic debtors, both large corporations and households, to repay their loans. However, the impact of those programs has been limited. In fact, since the government has extended those programs several times during the last five years without establishing a framework for the rapid collection and foreclosure of guarantees of defaulted borrowers, even solvent borrowers have become reluctant to repay their loans.

In addition, a special program was established for removing bad assets from banks through purchases of non-performing loans (NPLs) by the Fund for the Protection of Bank Savings (FOBAPROA). Purchases of NPLs have taken place several times during the last five years. As in the case of the debtors' programs, the large part of the costs of these transactions have been assumed by the government, not by the banks' shareholders. As a result, the amount of fiscal resources allocated to support the resolution of the banking crisis has rapidly increased over the last five years. At the end of September, 1999 the fiscal cost of the crisis amounted to US \$104 billion or 19.3% of Mexico's GDP.

The overall slow progress in the resolution of the Mexican banking crisis lies not only in the limited impact of implemented policies, but also in the poor integration of the policies themselves under a comprehensive strategy to resolve the crisis. The debt restructuring programs are perhaps the most notable case of lack of policy coordination. These programs, originally conceived as a one-time support to help debtors to repay their loans, have been extended several times during the last five years. However, since those programs were implemented without establishing a framework for the rapid collection and foreclosure of guarantees of defaulted borrowers, even solvent borrowers have become reluctant to repay their loans. At the end, the frequent extension of debt restructuring programs ended up discouraging good borrowers from repaying their loans, exactly what those programs were trying to prevent.

Korea has relied on a much more aggressive program for resolving the banking crisis. Recognition of losses at the early stages of the crisis and willingness of the government to rapidly resolve the crisis led to the establishment of once-for-all solutions. As a result, small insolvent institutions were rapidly shut-down, remaining distressed banks were practically nationalized, and a large part of bad assets was rapidly removed from banks in one-time transactions. In addition, the main instrument for bank recapitalization has been the injection of government resources, instead of private funds, as in the case of Mexico. Under this scheme, major Korean banks have been practically nationalized, and the government has become the owner of more than 75% of the banking system in terms of banks' capital.

Another factor that distinguishes the Korean from the Mexican strategy is the fact that recapitalization of banks with public resources and the purchase of NPLs have been one-time transactions (in a few cases two-time transactions), not several as in Mexico. Those transactions have been funded by a one-time allocation of fiscal resources of 64 trillion won (US \$ 54 billion dollars or 15% of GDP) in September, 1998. By limiting the number of bank recapitalizations and purchases of NPLs, moral hazard problems have been avoided in Korea.

Unlike Mexico, Korea has been able to avoid the socialization of debtors' losses, since it has succeeded in establishing adequate mechanisms to force solvent borrowers to repay their loans. Direct subsidies for corporate debt restructuring have been avoided in Korea. In addition, banks were forced to assume the costs of debt work-outs, whereas in Mexico they were borne to a large extent by the government.

In comparison to Mexico, Korea has succeeded in rapidly selling those bad assets acquired KAMCO. However, unlike Mexico, Korea has failed to sell the nationalized banks to domestic or foreign investors.

Based on the analysis carried out in this paper, there are 10 lessons that can be drawn from the management and resolution of the Mexican and Korean banking crises.

- 1. There is no single approach for managing systemic banking crises. What works in one country does not necessarily work in others. It is difficult to imagine how the Korean approach to manage and resolve a crisis could be replicated in countries where social discomfort is widespread, large debtors rapidly organize and stop repaying their loans, governments are weak and not supported by parliament, there is no room in the existing public debt to allocate 15% of GDP for financing bank restructuring, and macroeconomic recovery does not occur rapidly.
- 2. A centralized crisis management unit, with extraordinary powers and adequate budgetary and human resources, is essential for the successful management and resolution of a banking crisis. To a large extent, the resolution of a banking crisis is a managerial problem. Regardless of the strategy and policies chosen for resolving a crisis, the successful resolution of a crisis depends on the ability of a government to deliver rapid and sequenced responses, remove legal and administrative obstacles, create consensus around a strategy and its policies, implement unpopular measures, coordinate involved agencies and market participants, and resist opposition from affected interest groups. Therefore, a centralized unit with wide powers, adequate budgetary and human resources, a clear mandate to resolve a banking crisis seems to be the ideal institutional arrangement required for managing a crisis.
- 3. Use of private sector experts on financial restructuring is essential to speed up the resolution of a banking crisis. Governments in general do not have the adequate expertise to carry out sophisticated financial restructuring operations required for restructuring a banking system. In particular, governments lack expertise in the areas of due diligence, asset management and disposition, privatization of banks, mergers and acquisitions, and debt restructuring. Therefore, the use of private sector experts in financial restructuring can significantly contribute to resolve a crisis.
- 4. A rapid and realistic recognition of banks' problems is a necessary precondition for establishing an adequate strategy to resolve a crisis. Failure or reluctance to rapidly and realistically recognize the magnitude of banks' losses at the early stages of a crisis will likely lead to the prescription of measures which may provide short-term relief, but fail to address

the underlying causes of the crisis. In addition, if losses are not timely recognized, many technically insolvent banks may be allowed to stay in the market and even kept artificially afloat through fiscal support.

- 5. Decisions on the viability of banks should be made on a transparent basis and, to the extent possible, validated by independent experts. In order to maximize impartiality of government's decisions, explicit criteria should be established to judge and determine the viability of a financial institution, using the same criteria and procedures to the largest number of banks. Decisions should also be validated by a group of independent experts. As shown in the case of Mexico, discretionary decisions made on case by case basis may undermine the credibility and impartiality of financial authorities.
- 6. An overall strategy that links all policies and programs towards the accomplishment of a coherent set of goals is crucial for the successful resolution of a banking crisis. In a crisis environment, it is not a surprise that pragmatism and ad hoc responses may prevail over strategic thinking. In fact, the urgency for rapid responses may not allow time for prolonged deliberations. However, in the long run, the lack of a minimum medium and long-term strategy to resolve a crisis may be counterproductive. As shown in the cases of Mexico and Korea, failure to implement policies in a sequenced basis may produce poor or even contradictory results. A rapid and large-scale recapitalization of banks, for example, may result insufficient if it is not properly linked to significant progress in improving borrowers' capability and willingness to repay.
- 7. In cases of deteriorating social conditions, enforcement of creditors' rights may be neither politically nor socially feasible. As shown in the case of Mexico, the enforcement of creditors' rights at any cost is not always possible, especially when social discomfort provoked by a crisis is large. However, unjustified delay in enforcing creditors' rights and allowing rapid repossession of collateral may be counterproductive. If banks' can not rapidly and easily take possession of collateral, even solvent borrowers will become unwilling to repay their loans.
- 8. Appropriate sequence of policies is as important as the policies themselves. Debt restructuring programs should not be established before a strict framework for repossession of collateral is in place. As shown in the case of Mexico, in the absence of a framework to protect creditors' rights rapidly, the impact of debt restructuring programs may be limited. Even good borrowers may become unwilling to repay their loans when they are not forced to do it. The success of programs to recapitalize banks, remove bad assets from banking institutions, restore a payment culture, sell NPLs, may be undermined if creditors' rights can not be enforced and banks' can not rapidly execute collateral.
- 9. **Keeping insolvent banks artificially afloat is always an expensive decision**. As shown in the case of Mexico, even with a strong and rapid macroeconomic recovery, and large injections of private and public resources, insolvent banks have not been (and probably will not be) able to survive. By keeping insolvent banks artificially afloat, the (fiscal) costs of a crisis have skyrocketed. Time and economic recovery do not necessarily improve the financial situation of technically insolvent banks.

10. One (or two) large injection(s) of public funds may be more effective than gradual (several) doses. Repeated use of fiscal resources to recapitalize banks, purchase non-performing loans and support debt restructuring might be counterproductive if banks and debtors perceive that the government will likely continue to assume banks' losses. As shown in the case of Mexican debtors, even solvent debtors may become reluctant to repay their loans if they perceive that at the end the government will likely assume banks' losses and rescue debtors.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aiyer, Sri-Ram. 1996. "Anatomy of Mexico's Banking System During the Peso Crisis." World Bank, Technical Department Regional Studies Program. No. 45. Washington, DC.
- Aspe Armella, Pedro. 1993. Economic Transformation: The Mexican Way. Cambridge, Mass.: The MIT Press.
- Baliño, Tomás and Angel Ubide. 1999. "The Korean Financial Crisis of 1997. A Strategy of Financial Sector Reform," IMF Working Paper 99/28.
- Barents. 1999. "Management and Resolution of Banking Crises." Presentation to the World Bank. Washington, DC. Processed.
- Basle Committee on Banking Supervision. 1998. "Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision." Basle, BIS.
- Basle Working Group. 1999. "Report by the Basle Working Group on the Supervisory Lessons to be Drawn from the Asian Crisis."
- BIS (Bank for International Settlements). 1998. Annual Report. Basle, BIS.
- ----. 1999. "Bank Restructuring in Practice." BIS Policy Papers No. 6. Basle.
- Calva, Jose Luis (ed.). 1996. Liberalización de los Mercados Financieros. Resultados y Alternativas. Mexico City, Juan Pablos Editor.
- Claessens, Stijn, David Scott, and Swati Ghosh, "Korea's Financial Sector Reforms." in Korea and the Asian Economic Crisis: One Year Later. *Joint US-Korea Academic Studies*, Vol. 9, 1999.
- Claessens, Stijn, Simeon Djankov, and Leora Klapper. 1999. "Resolution of Corporate Distress: Evidence from East Asia's Financial Crisis." Washington, DC, World Bank
- Cho, Yoon Je. 1999. "Korea's Financial Restructuring: Steps Taken and Remaining Challenges." Sogang University, Seoul. Processed.
- De Juan, Aristóbulo. 1998. "Clearing the Decks: Experiences in Banking Crisis Resolution," Paper presented at the Fourth Annual World Bank Conference on Development in Latin America and the Caribbean held in San Salvador, El Salvador, June 28-30.
- Del Villar, Rafael, Daniel Backal and Juan Treviño. 1997. "Experiencia Internacional en Resolución de Crisis Bancarias." Banco de Mexico's Research Papers No. 9708. Mexico City, Banco de Mexico.

- Dziobek, Claudia and Ceyla Pazarbasioglu. 1997. "Lessons and Elements of Best Practice." In William E. Alexander, et. al., eds., *Systemic Bank Restructuring and Macroeconomic Policy*. Washington, DC, IMF, pp. 75-143.
- Edwards, Sebastian. 1999. "On Crisis Prevention: Lessons from Mexico and East Asia." Working Paper 7223. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass.
- Gavito, Javier, Aaron Silva and Guillermo Zamarripa. 1998. "Recovery after Crisis: Lessons for Mexico's Banks and Private Sector." Mexico City, CNBV, Processed.
- Girón, Alicia and Eugenia Correa (eds.). 1997. Crisis Bancaria y Carteras Vencidas. Mexico City, Demos.
- Gray, Dale F. 1999. "Assessment of Corporate Sector Value and Vulnerability: Links to Exchange Rate and Financial Crises." World Bank Technical Paper # 455. The World Bank.
- Kaminsky, G. and C. Reinhardt. 1996. "The Twin Crises: The Causes of Banking and Balance of Payments Problems," International Finance Discussion Paper 544 (Washington, Federal Reserve Board).
- Karaoglan, Roy and Mike Lubrano. 1995. "Mexico's Banks After the December 1994 Devaluation. A Chronology of the Government's Response," *Northwestern Journal of International Law and Business*, Vol. 16, No. 1.
- Klingebiel, Daniela. 1999. "The Use of Asset Management Companies in the Resolution of Banking Crises. Cross Country Experiences." Washington, DC, The World Bank, Processed.
- Kim, Byoung Yun. 1998. "Competition Policy in the Financial Sector in Developing Economies: The Case of Korea." Korea Institute of Finance. Seoul. Processed.
- Krueger, Anne, and Aaron Tornell. 1999. "The Role of Bank Restructuring in Recovering from Crises: Mexico 1995-98." Working Paper 7042. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass.
- Mackey, Michael W. 1999. "Report on the Comprehensive Evaluation of the Operations and Functions of FOBAPROA and Quality of Operations of FOBAPROA." Mexico City. Processed.
- Mexico. Bank of Mexico. Informe Anual. Several Issues. Mexico City, BANXICO.
- Mexico, Ministry of Finance. 1998. Fobaproa. La Verdadera Historia. Mexico City, SHCP.
- Mexico. National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV). Various Years. Boletín Estadístico de Banca Múltiple. Mexico City, CNBV.

- Mexico. National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV). 1997. *Institutional Program*. Mexico City, CNBV.
- Pomerleano, Michael. 1998. "The East Asia Crisis and Corporate Finances: The Untold Micro Story." Washington, DC. The World Bank.
- Republic of Korea. Bank of Korea. Monthly Statistical Bulletin, October, 1999.
- Rubio, Luis. 2000. Tres Ensayos: Fobaproa, Privatización y TLC. Mexico City, Ediciones Cal y Arena.
- Sheng, Andrew. 1996. Bank Restructuring: Lessons from the 1980s. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- The World Bank. 1999. Global Economic Prospects and the Developing Countries: Beyond Financial Crisis 1998-1999. Washington: The World Bank.

NOTES

¹ As noted by T. Balino (1999), in mid-1997, IBCA awarded a legal rating of 2 (next to the highest) to 11 of the 16 commercial banks in Korea, explicitly considering these banks as "too big too fail".

² In Korea, commercial banks operate trust accounts which are maintained separately from their banking accounts. Trust accounts have been commonly used to circumvent regulations, because they are not subject to the same prudential and supervisory standards as normal banking business such as credit exposure limits or provisioning rules on loans.

³ In Korea a loan was classified as non-performing loan (NPL) after it had been in arrears for six months or more. Bad loans were defined as the portion of non-performing loans not covered by collateral. Banks were required to set up provisions for loan losses at the end of each fiscal year sufficient to cover 100 percent of expected losses. However, losses were not expected to be over 2 percent of total loans. For that reason, loan loss reserves over 2 percent were not tax deductible, thus discouraging banks from provisioning in excess of 2 percent. Furthermore, loan classification and provisioning rules for loans in trust accounts were non-existent. In July, 1998, loan classification standards were modified. Accordingly, a loan is classified as non-performing after three months in arrears. In Mexico, the old system of loan classification, mainly based on repayment history rather than borrowers' present and future capability to repay as in Korea, was replaced in January 1996 with a system closer to the US standards. Also, in March 95, CNBV issued new provisioning rules requiring banks to increase reserves for loan losses to the highest of: (i) 4% of total loan portfolio; or (ii) 60% of past due loans.

⁴ Kim (1998) argues that, in spite of the deregulation of interest rates, banks still do not have the liberty of determining rates. If they try to increase rates rapidly, pressures from political or commercial communities are formed to block such a movement. The idea of recognizing bank as profit-seeking private enterprises rather than public entities is still unfamiliar to the Korean public. Rate discriminations between customers based on credit quality and contribution to the institution are treated as unfair, making cross-subsidization between customers a common practice in Korea.

⁵ A comparison of the origins of and policy responses to the currency crisis in Mexico and East Asian countries can be found in: Edwards Sebastian (1999).

⁶ The process and criteria for evaluating loans was adjusted so that guarantees and collateral were considered in the evaluation process. This resulted in lower required reserves. See Michael W. Mackey (1999).

⁷ In 1999 FOBAPROA was reorganized and transformed into the Instituto de Proteccion al Ahorro Bancario (IPABE) a formal deposit insurance agency responsible now for any injection of new capital into the banks.

Distributors of World Bank Group Publications

Prices and credit terms vary from country to country. Consult your local distributor before placing an

ARGENTINA World Publications SA AV. Cordoba 1877 1120 Cludad de Buenos Aires Tel: (54 11) 4815-8156 Exx: (54 11) 4815-8156 E-mail: wpbooks@infovia.com.ar

E-mail: wpbooks@infovia.com.ar
AUSTRALIA, F.IJI, PAPUA NEW
GUINEA, SOLOMON ISLANDS,
VANUATU, AND SAMOA
D.A. Information Services
648 Whitehorse Road
Mitcham 3132, Victoria
Tel: (61) 3 9210 7777
Fax: (61) 3 9210 7778
E-mail: service@dadirect.com.au
URL: http://www.dadirect.com.au
URL: http://www.dadirect.com.au

AUSTRIA Gerold and Co. Weihburgasse 26 A-1011 Wien Tel: (43 1) 512-47-31-0 Fax: (43 1) 512-47-31-29 URL: http://www.gerold.co/at.online

BANGLADESH
Micro Industries Development
Assistance Society (MIDAS)
House 5, Road 16
Dhanmondi R/Area
Dhaka 1209
Tel: (880 2) 326427
Fax: (880 2) 811188

BELGIUM Jean De Lannoy Av. du Roi 202 1060 Brussels Tel: (32 2) 538-5169 Fax: (32 2) 538-0841

Pax: (32.2) 536-0841

BRAZIL

Publicacões Tecnicas Internacionais

Lida.

Rua Peixoto Gomide, 209

01409 Sao Paulo, SP.

Tei: (55.11) 259-6644

Fax: (55.11) 258-6990

E-mail: postmaster@pti.uol.br

URL: http://www.uol.br

CANADA
Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd.
5369 Canotek Road
Ottawa, Ontario K1J 9J3
Tel: (613) 745-2665
Fax: (613) 745-7660

order.dept@renoufbooks.com URL: http://www.renoufbooks.com

CHINA China Financial & Economic Publishing House 8, Da Fo Si Dong Jie Beiling Beijing Tel: (86 10) 6401-7365 Fax: (86 10) 6401-7365

China Book Import Centre P.O. Box 2825 Beijing

Chinese Corporation for Promotion of Humanities 52, You Fang Hu Tong, Xuan Nei Da Jie Beijing Tel: (86 10) 660 72 494 Fax: (86 10) 660 72 494

COLOMBIA Infoeniace Ltda. Carrera 6 No. 51-21 Apartado Aereo 34270 Santafé de Bogotá, D.C. Tel: (57 1) 285-2798 Fax: (57 1) 285-2798

COTE D'IVOIRE Center d'Edition et de Diffusion Atricaines (CEDA) 04 B.P. 541 Abidjan 04 Tel: (225) 24 6510; 24 6511 Fax: (225) 25 0567

CYPRUS
Center for Applied Research
Cyprus College
6, Diogenes Street, Engomi
P.O. Box 2006
Nicocia Nicosia Tel: (357 2) 59-0730 Fax: (357 2) 66-2051

CZECH REPUBLIC
USIS, NIS Prodejna
Havelkova 22
130 00 Prague 3
Tel: (420 2) 2423 1486
Fax: (420 2) 2423 1114
URL: http://www.nis.cz/

DENMARK SamfundsLitteratur Rosenoerns Allé 11 DK-1970 Frederiksberg C Tel: (45 35) 351942 Fax: (45 35) 357822 URL: http://www.si.cbs.dk

ECUADOR Libri Mundi Libreria Internacional P.O. Box 17-01-3029 Juan Leon Mera 851

Juan Leon Mera 851 Cuito Tel: (593 2) 521-606; (593 2) 544-185 Fax: (593 2) 504-209 E-mail: librimu1@librimundi.com.ec E-mail: librimu2@librimundi.com.ec

CODEU
Ruiz de Castilla 763, Edif. Expocolor
Primer piso, Of. #2
Quito
Tel/Fax: (593 2) 507-383; 253-091
E-mail: codeu@impsat.net.ec

EGYPT, ARAB REPUBLIC OF

Al Ahram Distribution Agency Al Galaa Street Cairo Tel: (20 2) 578-6083 Fax: (20 2) 578-6833

The Middle East Observer 41, Sherif Street Cairo Tel: (20 2) 393-9732 Fax: (20 2) 393-9732

Fax. (20 Z) 595°9'3 2 FinLAND
Akateeminen Kirjakauppa
P.O. Box 128
Filh-00101 Helsinki
Tel: (358 0) 121 4418
Fax: (358 0) 121 4443
E-mail: akatilaus@stockmann.fi
URL: http://www.akateeminen.cc

FRANCE
Editions Eska; DBJ
48, rue Gay Lussac
75005 Paris
Tel: (33-1) 55-42-73-08
Fax: (33-1) 43-29-91-67

GERMANY GERMANY
UNO-Verlap
Poppelsdorfer Allee 55
53115 Bonn
Tel: (49 228) 949020
Fax: (49 228) 217492
URL: http://www.uno-verlag.de
E-mail: unoverlag@aol.com

GHANA GHANA
Epp Books Services
P.O. Box 44
TUC
Accra
Tel: 223 21 778843
Fax: 223 21 779099

GREECE Papasotiriou S.A. 35, Stournara Str. 106 82 Athens Tel: (30 1) 364-1826 Fax: (30 1) 364-8254

HAITI Culture Diffusion 5, Rue Capois C.P. 257 C.P. 257 Port-au-Prince Tel: (509) 23 9260 Fax: (509) 23 4858

Fax: (509) 23 4858
HONG KONG, CHINA; MACAO
Asia 2000 Ltd.
Sales & Circulation Department
302 Seabird House
22-28 Wyndham Street, Central
Hong Kong, China
Tel: (852) 2530-1409
Fax: (652) 2525-1409
Fa

HUNGARY HUNGARY
Euro Info Service
Margitszgeti Europa Haz
H-1138 Budapest
Tel: (36 1) 350 80 24, 350 80 25
Fax: (36 1) 350 90 32
E-mail: euroinfo@mail.matav.hu INDIA Allied Publishers Ltd. 751 Mount Road Madras - 600 002 Tel: (91 44) 852-3938 Fax: (91 44) 852-0649

INDONESIA
Pt. Indira Limited
Jalan Borobudur 20
P.O. Box 181
Jakarta 10320
Tel: (62 21) 390-4290
Fax: (62 21) 390-4289

IRAN
Ketab Sara Co. Publishers
Khaled Eslamboli Ave., 6th Street
Delafrooz Alley No. 8
P.O. Box 15745-733
Tehran 15117 Tel: (98 21) 8717819; 8716104 Fax: (98 21) 8712479 E-mail: ketab-sara@neda.net.ir

Kowkab Publishers P.O. Box 19575-511 Tehran Tel: (98 21) 258-3723 Fax: (98 21) 258-3723

IRFI AND

Government Supplies Agency Oifig an tSoláthair 4-5 Harcourt Road

Dublin 2 Tel: (353 1) 661-3111 Fax: (353 1) 475-2670

ISRAEL Yozmot Literature Ltd. P.O. Box 56055 3 Yohanan Hasandlar Street Tel Aviv 61560 Tel: (972 3) 5285-397 Fax: (972 3) 5285-397

R.O.Y. International PO Box 13056 Tel Aviv 61130 Tel: (972 3) 649 9469 Fax: (972 3) 648 6039 E-mail: royil@netvision.net.il URL: http://www.royint.co.il

Palestinian Authority/Middle East Index Information Services P.O.B. 19502 Jerusalem Tel: (972 2) 6271219 Fax: (972 2) 6271634 ITALY, LIBERIA

ITALY, LIBERIA
Licosa Commissionaria Sansoni SPA
Via Duca Di Calabria, 1/1
Caselia Postale 552
50125 Firenze
Tei: (39 55) 645-415
Fax: (39 55) 641-257
E-mail: licosa@ribcc.it
URL: http://www.fibcc.it/licosa

JAMAICA JAMAICA
Ian Randle Publishers Ltd.
206 Old Hope Road, Kingston 6
Tel: 876-927-2085
Fax: 876-977-0243
E-mail: irpi@colis.com

JAPAN JAPAN Eastern Book Service 3-13 Hongo 3-chome, Bunkyo-ku Tokyo 113 Tel: (81 3) 3818-0861 Fax: (81 3) 3818-0864 E-mail: orders@svt-ebs.co.jp

http://www.bekkoame.or.jp/~svt-

Africa Book Service (E.A.) Ltd. Quaran House, Mfangano Street P.O. Box 45245 Nairobi Tel: (254 2) 223 641 Fax: (254 2) 330 272

Legacy Books Loita House Mezzanine 1 P.O. Box 68077 Nairobi Tel: (254) 2-330853, 221426 Fax: (254) 2-330854, 561654 E-mail: Légacy@form-net.com

KOREA, REPUBLIC OF Dayang Books Trading Co. International Division 783-20, Pangba Bon-Dong, Socho-ku Seoul Tel: (82 2) 536-9555 Fax: (82 2) 536-0025 E-mail: seamap@chollian.net Eulyoo Publishing Co., Ltd. 46-1, Susong-Dong Jongro-Gu Seoul Tel: (82 2) 734-3515 Fax: (82 2) 732-9154

LEBANON Librairie du Liban P.O. Box 11-9232 Beirut Tel: (961 9) 217 944 Fax: (961 9) 217 434 E-mail: hsayegh@librairie-du-liban.com.lb URL: http://www.librairie-du-liban.com.lb

IIDAI.COM.ID
MALAYSIA
University of Malaya Cooperative
Bookshop, Limited
P.O. Box 1127
Jalan Pantai Baru
59700 Kulai Lumpur
Tel: (80 3) 756-5000
Fax: (80 3) 755-4424
E-mail: umkoop@tm.net.my

MEXICO MEXICD INFOTEC AV. San Fernando No. 37 Col. Toriello Guerra 14050 Mexico, D.F. Tel: (52 5) 624-2800 Fax: (52 5) 624-2822 E-mail: infotec@rtn.net.mx URL: http://rtn.net.mx

Mundi-Prensa Mexico S.A. de C.V. c/Rio Panuco. 141-Colonia

Cuauhtemoc 06500 Mexico, D.F. Tel: (52 5) 533-5658 Fax: (52 5) 514-6799

MEPAL Everest Media International Services (P) Ltd. GPO Box 5443 Kathmandu Tel: (977 1) 416 026 Fax: (977 1) 224 431

NETHERLANDS NETHERLANDS
De Lindeboom/Internationale
Publicaties b.v.P.O. Box 202, 7480 AE Haaksbergen
Tel: (31 53) 574-0004
Fax: (31 53) 572-9296
E-mail: lindeboo@worldonline.nl
URL: http://www.worldonline.nl/-lindeboo@worldonline.nl/-lindeboogworldonline.

NEW ZEALAND NEW ZEALAND EBSCO NZ Ltd. Private Mail Bag 99914 New Market Auckland Tel: (64 9) 524-8119 Fax: (64 9) 524-8067

Oasis Official P.O. Box 3627 Wellington Tel: (64 4) 499 1551 Fax: (64 4) 499 1972 E-mail: oasis@actrix.gen.nz URL: http://www.oasisbooks.co.nz/

NIGERIA NIGERIA University Press Limited Three Crowns Building Jericho Private Mail Bag 5095 Ibadan Tel: (234 22) 41-1356 Fax: (234 22) 41-2056

PAKISTAN Mirza Book Agency 65, Shahrah-e-Quaid-e-Azam Lahore 54000 Tel: (92 42) 735 3601 Fax: (92 42) 576 3714

Oxford University Press Oxford Oniversity Press
5 Bangalore Town
Sharae Faisal
PO Box 13033
Karachi-75350
Tel: (92 21) 446307
Fax: (92 21) 4547640
E-mail: ouppak@TheOffice.net

Pak Book Corporation Aziz Chambers 21, Queen's Road Lahore Tel: (92 42) 636 3222; 636 0885 Fax: (92 42) 636 2328 E-mail: pbc@brain.net.pk

PERU Editorial Desarrollo SA Apartado 3824, Ica 242 OF. 106 Lima 1 Tel: (51 14) 285380 Fax: (51 14) 286628

PHILIPPINES International Booksource Center Inc. 1127-A Antipolo St, Barangay, Venezuela Makati City Tel: (63 2) 896 6501; 6505; 6507 Fax: (63 2) 896 1741

rex: (po. 2) 896 1/41

POLAND
International Publishing Service
UI. Piekna 31/37
00-677 Werzawa
Tei: (48 2) 628-6089
Fax: (48 2) 621-7255
E-mail: books%ips@ikp.atm.com.pl
URL:

http://www.ipscg.waw.pl/ips/export

PORTUGAL Livraria Portugal Apartado 2681, Rua Do Carm o 70-74 1200 Lisbon Tel: (1) 347-4982 Fax: (1) 347-0264

ROMANIA Compani De Librarii Bucuresti S.A. Str. Lipscani no. 26, sector 3 Bucharest Tel: (40 1) 313 9645 Fax: (40 1) 312 4000

RUSSIAN FEDERATION Isdatelstvo <Ves Mir>
9a, Kolpachniy Pereulok
Moscow 101831
Tel: (7 095) 917 87 49
Fax: (7 095) 917 92 59
ozimarin@glasnet.ru

ozimannegiasnet.ru
SINGAPDRE: TAIWAN, CHINA
MYANMAR; BRUNEI
Hemisphere Publication Services
41 Kallang Publication Services
41 Kallang Publication Services
Singapore 349316
Tel: (65) 741-5166
Fax: (65) 742-9356
E-mail: ashgate@asianconnect.com

E-mair. asrigate@asianconnect.com SLOVENIA Gospodarski vestnik Publishing Group Dunajska cesta 5 1000 Ljubljana Tel: (386 61) 133 83 47; 132 12 30 Fax: (386 61) 133 80 30 E-mail: repansekj@yestnik.si

SOUTH AFRICA, BOTSWANA For single titles: Oxford University Press Southern

Oxford University Frees South Africa Vasco Boulevard, Goodwood P.O. Box 12119, N1 City 7463 Cape Town Tel: (27 21) 595 4430 Fax: (27 21) 595 4430 E-mail: oxford@oup.co.za

For subscription orders: For subscription orders: International Subscription Service P.O. Box 41095 Craighall Johannesburg 2024 Tel: (27 11) 880-1448 Fax: (27 11) 880-6248 E-mail: iss@is.co.za

SPAIN Mundi-Prensa Libros, S.A. Castello 37 28001 Madrid 2007 Mathu Fax: (34 91) 4 363700 Fax: (34 91) 5 753998 E-mail: libreria@mundiprensa.es URL: http://www.mundiprensa.com/

Mundi-Prensa Barcelona
Consell de Cent, 391
08009 Barcelona
Tel: (34 3) 488-3492
Fax: (34 3) 487-7659
E-mail: barcelona@mundiprensa.es

SRI LANKA, THE MALDIVES Lake House Bookshop 100, Sir Chittampalam Gardiner Mawatha Colombo 2 Tei: (94 1) 32105 Fax: (94 1) 432104 E-mail: LHL@sri.lanka.net

SWEDEN SWEDEN
Wennergren-Williams AB
P. O. Box 1305
S-171 25 Solna
Tel: (46 8) 705-97-50
Fax: (46 8) 27-00-71
E-mail: mail@wwi.se

SWITZERLAND
Librarite Payot Service Institutionnel
C(tm)tes-de-Montbenon 30
1002 Lausanne
Tel: (41 21) 341-3229
Fax: (41 21) 341-3235

ADECO Van Diermen EditionsTechniques Ch. de Lacuez 41 CH1807 Blonay Tel: (41 21) 943 2673 Fax: (41 21) 943 3605

THAILAND
Central Books Distribution
306 Silom Road
Bangkok 10500
Tel: (66 2) 2336930-9
Fax: (66 2) 237-8321

Fax: (66 2) 237-8321
TRINIDAD & TOBAGO
AND THE CARRIBBEAN
Systematics Studies Ltd.
St. Augustine Shopping Center
Eastern Main Road, St. Augustine
Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies
Tei: (668) 645-8467
E-mail: tobe@trinidad.net

HGANDA Gustro Ltd. PO Box 9997, Madhvani Building Plot 16/4 Jinja Rd.

Plot 16/4 Jinja Rd.
Kampala
Tel: (256 41) 251 467
Fax: (256 41) 251 468
E-mail: gus@swiftuganda.com
UNITED KINGDOM
Microinfo Ltd.
PO. Box 3, Omega Park, Alton,
Hampshire GU34 2PG
Fondand Tel: (44 1420) 86848 Fax: (44 1420) 89889 E-mail: wbank@microinfo.co.uk URL: http://www.microinfo.co.uk

The Stationery Office 51 Nine Elms Lane London SW8 5DR Tel: (44 171) 873-8400 Fax: (44 171) 873-8242 URL: http://www.the-stationery-office.co.uk/

VENEZUELA Tecni-Ciencia Libros, S.A. Centro Cuidad Comercial Tamanco Nivel C2, Caracas Tel: (58 2) 959 5547; 5035; 0016 Fax: (58 2) 959 5636

ZAMBIA University Bookshop, University of Zambia Great East Road Campus P.O. Box 32379 Lusaka Tel: (260 1) 252 576 Fax: (260 1) 253 952

ZIMBABWE Academic and Baobab Books (Pvt.) Ltd. 4 Conald Road, Graniteside P.O. Box 567 Harare Tel: 263 4 755035 Fax: 263 4 781913

Recent World Bank Discussion Papers (continued)

- No. 377 Mobilizing Domestic Capital Markets for Infrastructure Financing: International Experience and Lessons for China. Anjali Kumar, R. David Gray, Mangesh Hoskote, Stephan von Klaudy, and Jeff Ruster
- No. 378 Trends in Financing Regional Expenditures in Transition Economies: The Case of Ukraine. Nina Bubnova and Lucan Way
- No. 379 Empowering Small Enterprises in Zimbabwe. Kapil Kapoor, Doris Mugwara, and Isaac Chidavaenzi
- No. 380 India's Public Distribution System: A National and International Perspective. R. Radhakrishna and K. Subbarao, with S. Indrakant and C. Ravi
- No. 381 Market-Based Instruments for Environmental Policymaking in Latin America and the Caribbean: Lessons from Eleven Countries. Richard M. Huber, Jack Ruitenbeek, and Ronaldo Serôa da Motta.
- No. 382 Public Expenditure Reform under Adjustment Lending: Lessons from World Bank Experiences. Jeff Huther, Sandra Roberts, and Anwar Shah
- No. 383 Competitiveness and Employment: A Framework for Rural Development in Poland. Garry Christensen and Richard Lacroix
- No. 384 Integrating Social Concerns into Private Sector Decisionmaking: A Review of Corporate Practices in the Mining, Oil, and Gas Sectors. Kathryn McPhail and Aidan Davy
- No. 385 Case-by-Case Privatization in the Russian Federation: Lessons from International Experience. Harry G. Broadman, editor
- No. 386 Strategic Management for Government Agencies: An Institutional Approach for Developing and Transition Economies. Navin Girishankar and Migara De Silva
- No. 387 The Agrarian Economies of Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States: Situation and Perspectives, 1997. Csaba Csaki and John Nash
- No. 388 China: A Strategy for International Assistance to Accelerate Renewable Energy Development. Robert P. Taylor and V. Susan Bogach
- No. 389 World Bank HIV/AIDS Interventions: Ex-ante and Ex-post Evaluation. Julia Dayton
- No. 390 Evolution of Agricultural Services in Sub-Saharan Africa: Trends and Prospects. V. Venkatesan and Jacob Kampen
- No. 391 Financial Incentives for Renewable Energy Development: Proceedings of an International Workshop, February 17–21. 1997, Amsterdam, Netherlands. E. Scott Piscitello and V. Susan Bogach
- No. 392 Choices in Financing Health Care and Old Age Security: Proceedings of a Conference Sponsored by the Institute of Policy Studies, Singapore, and the World Bank, November 8, 1997. Nicholas Prescott, editor
- No. 393 Energy in Europe and Central Asia: A Sector Strategy for the World Bank Group. Laszlo Lovei
- No. 394 Kyrgyz Republic: Strategy for Rural Growth and Poverty Alleviation. Mohinder S. Mudahar
- No. 395 School Enrollment Decline in Sub-Saharan Africa: Beyond the Supply Constraint. Joseph Bredie and Girindre Beeharry
- No. 396 Transforming Agricultural Research Systems in Transition Economies: The Case of Russia. Mohinder S. Mudahar, Robert W. Jolly, and Jitendra P. Srivastava
- No. 398 Land Reform and Farm Restructuring in Moldova: Progress and Prospects. Zvi Lerman, Csaba Csaki, and Victor Moroz.
- No. 400 Russian Enterprise Reform: Policies to Further the Transition. Harry G. Broadman, editor
- No. 401 Russian Trade Policy Reform for WTO Accession. Harry G. Broadman, editor
- No. 402 Trade, Global Policy, and the Environment. Per G. Gredriksson, editor
- No. 403 Ghana: Gender Analysis and Policymaking for Development. Shiyan Chao, editor
- No. 404 Health Care in Uganda: Selected Issues. Paul Hutchinson, in collaboration with Demissie Habte and Mary Mulusa
- No. 405 Gender-Related Legal Reform and Access to Economic Resources in Eastern Africa, Gita Gopal
- No. 406 The Private Sector and Power Generation in China, Energy and Mining Sector Unit, East Asia and Pacific Region, World Bank
- No. 407 Economic Growth with Equity: Ukrainian Perspectives, John Hansen, editor
- No. 408 Economic Growth with Equity: Which Strategy for Ukraine? John Hansen and Diana Cook
- No. 409 East Asian Corporations: Heroes or Villains? Stijn Claessens, Simeon Djankov, and Larry H. P. Lang
- No. 411 Making the Transition Work for Women in Europe and Central Asia, Marnia Lazreg, editor



THE WORLD BANK

1818 H Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20433 U.S.A.

Telephone: 202-477-1234

Facsimile: 202-477-6391

Telex: MCI 64145 WORLDBANK

MCI 248423 WORLDBANK

Internet: www.worldbank.org

E-mail: books@worldbank.org



ISBN 0-8213-4723-3